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Infinity Property and Casualty Corporation is a leading nonstandard personal auto insurer. Infinity offers innovative

automobile insurance products and services tailored to meet the needs of the consumer. 

Company Profile:

Corporate Milestones:

■ December 2003—IPCC completes secondary offering.

■ July 2003—IPCC closes $200 million senior secured term loan.

■ February 2003—IPCC went public (NASD: IPCC).
■ February 2004—IPCC reports 2003 results.

Net earnings increased 46%.

■ February 2004—IPCC closes $200 million 
senior notes offering.

Headquartered in Birmingham,

Alabama, Infinity operates 

primarily in 15 focus states.
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Financial Highlights:

For the Twelve Months Ended

Pro Forma %
(in millions) 2003 2002 Change

Earnings Statement Data:
Gross Written Premiums $ 979.4 $1,067.4 (8)%
Net Written Premiums $ 817.6 $ 687.3 19%

Total Revenues $ 769.0 $ 817.2 (6)%
Net Earnings $ 58.2 $ 39.9 46%

Net Earnings per Share—Basic $ 2.86 $ 1.96 46%
Net Earnings per Share—Diluted $ 2.83 $ 1.96 44%

Balance Sheet Data:
Total Assets $1,900.1 $1,729.7 10%
Total Shareholders’ Equity $ 455.4 $ 386.8 18%
Book Value per Share $ 22.38 $ 19.01 18%

Highlights:
■ Implementation of new programs in key focus states
■ Increased premiums 6% in focus states
■ Reduced premiums 45% in non-focus states
■ Introduced state-of-the-art agency software
■ Lowered expense ratio 1.2 points
■ Improved combined ratio 3.7 points
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A New Beginning

Our initial public offering in 2003 marked our beginning as a public

company. We welcome all of our new shareholders and express

our appreciation for your support.

We are very excited about our business opportunities and our

future as a public company. During the last few years, we have

carefully laid the groundwork to allow Infinity to take advantage of

the market opportunities that lie ahead. We have consolidated

several disparate insurance operations into a cohesive organization.

Most of these companies have been in business for decades, but

prior to 2001 were operating independently. We have targeted

15 states that provide us the best opportunity for future profits and

growth. And we have assembled a group of senior executives

with an average of 20 years experience in the insurance industry.

These actions, combined with our experience, will serve us well in

the coming years.

We are a company with a focused strategy that is poised to take

advantage of the auto insurance marketplace today and in the

future. And we are a company with over 2,200 employees who

are committed to delivering outstanding service to agents and

customers, and outstanding financial results for our shareholders.

2003 Financial Results

Our 2003 financial results were very strong. As a result of disci-

plined pricing, exceptional claim service and lower operating

expenses, we achieved a 15% return on equity, exceeding our long-

term goal of 12%. Diluted earnings per share grew 44% and book

value per share grew 18%. In recognition of these strong results,

Infinity’s stock price since the IPO has increased over 88%. We

appreciate the efforts of our agents and employees in achieving

these excellent results.

The Customer is Key

Strong financial performance is a result of many things, but without

an intense focus on our customers and their needs, it would not be

possible. We can never lose sight that the primary reason we are

in business is to serve our customers. In 1950, George Merck II

said of his company’s philosophy, “We try to remember that med-

icine is for the patient…It is not for the profits. The profits will follow,

and if we have remembered that, they have never failed to appear.

The better we have remembered it, the larger they have been.”

That singular focus on the customer served Merck & Company’s

shareholders very well. Merck’s stock price over a 30-year period

grew 13% per year on average, outperforming the market by over

four percentage points.

It is this singular focus on Infinity’s almost three-quarters of a million

customers that has enabled us to achieve strong financial results.

In 2003, we continued to take steps to improve the service to our

customers and we continued to give our customers new product

choices. We expanded our product offerings in our key focus states,

tailoring automobile insurance coverage to our customers’ needs

and budgets. We made flexible payment options available, includ-

ing payments over the Internet and by e-check. And we increased

the proportion of claims settled face-to-face with our customers

and third-party claimants. In 2004 and beyond, we remain com-

mitted to offering our customers products that are designed to meet

their unique needs, at a price they can afford.

To Our Shareholders, Customers, Agents and Employees:

James R. Gober
Chairman, President & Chief Executive Officer



Agents and Employees are Key to Servicing the Customer

We can only achieve excellence in serving our customers through

agents and employees who share our commitment to this goal.

Our 14,000 agents and 2,200 employees understand this and

continually strive to improve the level of service they deliver.

We support, encourage and reward our agents and our employ-

ees in many ways. The combination of our competitive commissions

and our dedicated support of our agents’ operations help to

cement a long-term partnership. In 2003, we introduced state-of-

the-art agency software that allows our agents to more efficiently

quote and bind coverage for our customers. With this software,

our agents now have access to real-time underwriting, claims and

policy information via the Internet. We also provided our agents

the ability to endorse policies on-line so they avoid having to fill

out paper forms. This greatly improves service to our customers

while reducing expenses incurred by Infinity and our agents.

We believe in offering competitive compensation and extensive

training programs for our employees. As a result of the excellent

financial results in 2003, we paid a year-end profit sharing bonus

to all eligible employees equal to one week’s salary. In addition,

we made a $4 million discretionary profit sharing contribution 

to the 401(k) plan. In total, bonuses equal to 7% of our employ-

ees’ salaries were paid in 2003 in recognition and appreciation

of their critical role in delivering value-added service to our agents

and customers.

We want to thank our agents and employees for all their hard

work and dedication in 2003.

2004 Outlook

We believe the business environment for the personal automobile

insurance market, particularly for nonstandard risks, is one that

offers us exciting opportunities for growth and sustained profit.

Accordingly, our plans include gross premium growth of 5% to

10% in 2004 while striving for returns on equity of 12% or better.

We will continue to focus on the three tactical keys to our suc-

cess—pricing discipline, exceptional claim service and low

expenses—and we will fortify our relationships with our customers,

agents and employees, who are the strategic keys to building our

business and growing our profits.

Lastly, we wish to thank our shareholders. We are committed to

delivering long-term value to our shareholders and to reporting

results openly and honestly. We appreciate your support.

James R. Gober

Chairman, President & Chief Executive Officer
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“We can never lose sight that the primary reason
we are in business is to serve our customers.”



Our Objectives: Our Agents

 Our Customers

Our People

To be successful, we need to accomplish several key objectives:
■ We need to provide innovative personal auto products and services to our Customers
■ We need to support our Agents in their business endeavors
■ We need to hire and retain People with talent and character

Interactions take place by the thousands everyday among our customers, agents and people. When we

excel at the interactions among these groups, when we build stronger relationships, profit and shareholder

value is the natural outcome.

Customer Base

Personal automobile insurance is the largest line of property

and casualty insurance in the U.S. with approximately

$149 billion of net premiums written in 2003. We believe

that nonstandard risks generally constitute between 15%

and 20% of the personal auto market.

Tailored Products

We focus solely on auto insurance and are passionate

about providing insurance products tailored to meet the

needs of our customers. We offer three distinct Personal

Automobile policies to our customers.

■ Low Cost Policy—This policy offers nonstandard drivers

more restricted coverage at very competitive rates.

Approximately 14% of drivers in the U.S. are driving

without insurance and this policy provides these cus-

tomers with an affordable solution to meet their states’

minimum insurance requirements.

■ Premier Policy—This policy is designed for the standard

customer who prefers to have broad coverages.

■ Value-Added Policy—This policy is a good fit for cus-

tomers with a blemish or two on their driving records. It

has fewer restrictions than the Low Cost Policy but does

not provide coverages as broad as the Premier Policy.

In addition to our Personal Automobile policies, we offer

a nonstandard Commercial Auto product as well as

insurance for Classic Automobiles.

State Focus

To better serve our customers, we have narrowed our

focus to the 15 states that provide the best opportunity 

for profitable growth. Because 50% of the U.S. popula-

tion resides in our 15 focus states, we have significant

opportunities for growth. The focus states are comprised

Our Customers:



of our Franchise States (CA, CT, FL, GA, and PA), which

represent those states that top the priority list in terms of

getting our various programs introduced, and our

Resource States (AK, AL, AZ, MO, MS, OH, SC, TN,

TX, and VA), which represent the states in which we

intend to add marketing and claims staff and replicate

the operating model of the Franchise States.

Tailored Services

We offer our customers affordable down payments along

with a variety of methods to pay the remaining balance

of their insurance premium. Premiums may be paid by

check, e-check, credit card or cash. In addition, our web-

based services allow customers to pay by credit card 

via the Internet.

By narrowing our focus to 15 states, we can strengthen

our claims infrastructure to allow expansion of face-to-

face claims handling. Handling claims in this manner

means the delivery of optimum service to our customers.

Today, we handle approximately 65% of our claims

nationwide on a face-to-face basis. In California, where

this practice was first introduced, over 90% of our claims

are handled on a face-to-face basis.

In 2003, we expanded our service in California to

include a ’Door-to-Door’ claims service program. In this

program, if a policyholder or third-party claimant drives

their damaged vehicle to one of our local claims offices,

we will take charge of their vehicle and provide them

with a rental car. After the vehicle is repaired at one of

our designated local repair shops, we deliver it to their

home with a lifetime guarantee on the repairs. This

allows us to provide great customer service as well as

control costs. In 2004, we will be expanding this pro-

gram into additional focus states.

Focus on Emerging Markets

The Latino market is the largest minority population in the

U.S. as well as the fastest growing segment in the popu-

lation. In fact, 60% of the Latino population in the U.S.

resides in our top six focus states. For the past 12 years,

we have actively targeted this market and understand

what we need to do to retain and grow this business.
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To accommodate this market, we have bilingual customer

service representatives and claims staff, we translate

documents, such as billing statements, into Spanish, and

we advertise in Spanish via direct mail, newspapers,

radio and television stations.

In recognition of our efforts to develop relationships in the

Latino community, we were honored to receive the 2003

’Market of the Year’ award from the Latin American

Agents Association.

Supporting the Customers’ Community

We believe that it is important to be involved in the local

communities of our customers, particularly within the

Latino market. Being involved allows us to build brand

awareness and gain the trust of our customers. In 2003,

over three million people attended community events in

which Infinity participated.

In California, we are a sponsor of the L.A. Galaxy Soccer

Team. Through this sponsorship, we receive stadium sig-

nage, game announcements, program ads, radio and

television commercials as well as player appearances at

various community events.

We are also a sponsor of the Hispanic Scholarship Fund,

the nation’s leading organization supporting Hispanic

higher education. In 2003, we funded and committed

resources to the first Hispanic Scholarship Fund/Infinity

Insurance Junior High School Outreach and Educational

Program. The program is designed to inspire students to

pursue a college education and to demonstrate that

higher education is both valuable and attainable.

“We appreciate the corporate support and personal commitment

Infinity has provided our community. By supporting programs like 

the “Kicking it with the Galaxy” soccer event, Infinity is helping our

youth today become future leaders of tomorrow.”

Mayor Larry Guidi
Hawthorne, CA



Our Agents:
Distribution Channel

We are currently the second largest writer of nonstandard

automobile insurance through the independent agency

channel with over 14,000 independent agents repre-

senting our company. Strategic Partnerships is a second

distribution channel that is growing for us. These strategic

partners are membership organizations that insure pre-

ferred drivers through one of their own insurance compa-

nies while utilizing us for their nonstandard risks.

Supporting the Independent Agents

We want to make it easy for the independent agent to

write business for us. One of the ways we do that is

through our technology. We have introduced our web-

based services which allow agents to access real-time

underwriting, claims and policy information via the Internet.

We also have given our agents the ability to endorse poli-

cies on-line, eliminating the need to fill out paper forms.

We surveyed our agents to learn what we could do to

help them be more successful. Since many of our agents

are small business owners, we wanted to help them be

more effective in their agency operations. Our P.A.S.S.

program—Providing Agents Service & Support—was

designed based on the feedback from the survey, which

indicated that our agents desired assistance with training,

business development and technology.

Our Infinity University provides our agents with a diverse

body of courses taught by our own in-house instructors. In

2003, we held almost 200 training classes with nearly

3,000 participants from approximately 1,600 agencies.

The classes we offer, such as Fighting Fraud and Agency

Management, are accredited by state insurance depart-

ments and provide continuing education credits needed

by our agents to maintain their licenses.

To address their business development needs, we have 

a co-op sign and advertising program that allows us to

share the costs and benefits with our agents. In addition,

local agents participate in community events with us

working side-by-side. This allows them to co-brand their

agency with Infinity and to generate additional auto insur-

ance sales leads.

Finally, we have negotiated with companies such as Dell

ComputersTM, Office Depot TM and Sprint TM to allow our

agents to benefit from the volume discounts we receive as

a large company.

Our P.A.S.S. program currently has 3,000 members in

seven states. In California, our largest state, 78% of our

agents participate in this program.
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The Right People in the Right Positions

We believe having the right people in the right positions, and supporting them, are key factors in reaching our goals.

Potential employees go through a comprehensive testing and targeted selection interview process. This important hiring

process permits us to hire people with talent and character.

The five members of our executive team have 75 combined years of service with the Infinity companies and over 100

combined years of experience in the insurance industry.

Our organizational structure and philosophy gives our employees the authority to do their job without getting caught up

in bureaucracy. We have a regional approach supported by centralized functions. This allows us to support our face-

to-face claims handling structure and to be in the local communities where we can effectively fight fraud.

Goals and Objectives

We set aggressive goals and objectives for our employees. Our training programs, such as our intensive six-month

claims training program, help employees reach their goals and become more effective when dealing with customers

and third-party claimants.

We are willing to forego volume for profit. Therefore, our bonus plans provide incentives for our employees to follow this

philosophy. In 2003, based on outstanding financial results, we awarded bonuses totaling 7% of our employees’ salaries.

Our People:



In 2004 and beyond, we look to remain a dominant player in the nonstandard auto market by continuing to focus on

building stronger relationships with our customers, our agents and our people.

We will work hard to have our Low Cost, Value-Added and Premier personal auto products in substantially all of our

focus states and will continue to expand our Commercial Vehicle and Classic Car Programs. We will expand our Latino

market focus outside of California and into states such as Florida and Texas. And we will continue to support our

customers’ local communities.

Our commitment to our agents will remain strong. We will introduce our P.A.S.S. program in each of our 15 focus

states. In addition, we will continue to advance our web-based initiatives to make it more convenient and efficient for

our agents to do business with us.

We will continue to challenge our employees and provide incentives that reward them for profitable results.

Having strong relationships with our customers, our agents and our people will allow us to successfully execute our oper-

ating goals and achieve a minimum 12% return on equity.

Moving Ahead…



This report contains certain forward-looking statements that are
subject to numerous assumptions, risks and uncertainties. The
Private Securities Litigation Reform Act of 1995 provides safe har-
bor for forward-looking statements. Some of the forward-looking
statements can be identified by the use of forward-looking words
such as “anticipates,” “believes,”“ estimates,” “expects,” “intends,”
“plans,” “seeks,” “could,” “may,” “should,” “will,” or the negative
version of those words or other comparable terminology. Examples
of such forward-looking statements include statements relating to:
expectations concerning market and other conditions, future pre-
miums, revenues, earnings and investment activities, expected
losses, rate increases, improved loss experience and expected
expense savings resulting from consolidation of the operations of
the Company’s subsidiaries. Actual results could differ materially
from those expected by the Company depending on certain risks
and uncertainties including but not limited to:

• changes in economic conditions and financial markets
(including interest rates);

• the adequacy or accuracy of its pricing methodologies;

• the presence of competitors with greater financial resources
and the impact of competitive pricing; 

• the ability to obtain timely approval for requested rate changes;

• judicial and regulatory developments adverse to the auto-
mobile insurance industry;

• the outcome of pending litigation against the Company;

• weather conditions (including the severity and frequency of
storms, hurricanes, snowfalls, hail and winter conditions);

• changes in driving patterns and loss trends;

• acts of war and terrorist activities; and

• the challenges posed by consolidating the operations of its
insurance subsidiaries.

The forward-looking statements herein are made only as of the date
of this report. The Company assumes no obligation to publicly
update any forward-looking statements.

Infinity Property and Casualty Corporation and Subsidiaries

Selected Financial Data

Infinity Property and Casualty Corporation

Forward-Looking Statements

Pro Forma(a)

2003 2002 2001 2000 1999

Earnings Statement Data:
Gross written premiums(b) $ 979.4 $1,067.4 $1,127.6 $1,210.8 $1,080.1
Net written premiums 817.6 687.3 902.9 1,207.0 1,074.3
Net earned premiums $ 698.7 $ 753.1 $1,066.3 $1,172.2 $1,083.1
Total revenue 769.0 817.2 1,145.4 1,245.2 1,189.0

Net income 58.2 39.9 0.7 (51.9) 63.5
Realized (gains) losses, after tax (0.6) 4.4 3.8 3.5 (14.7)

Operating Income $ 57.6 $ 44.3 $ 4.5 $ (48.4) $ 48.8
Per Share—diluted

Net earnings $ 2.83 $ 1.96 $ 0.03 $ (2.55) $ 3.12
Operating earnings $ 2.79 $ 2.18 $ 0.22 $ (2.38) $ 2.40

Combined ratio 92.5% 96.2% 104.9% 109.0% 98.2%
Balance Sheet Data:

Total assets $1,900.1 $1,729.7 $1,960.9 $1,961.2 $1,778.0
Total shareholders’ equity 455.4 386.8 507.8 559.2 479.0
Book value per share $ 22.38 $ 19.01 $ 24.95 $ 27.48 $ 23.54
Return on equity (ex FAS 115, based on operating earnings) 14.7% 10.2% 0.8% (9.0%) 9.1%
Basic shares outstanding 20,348 20,347 20,347 20,347 20,347
Diluted shares outstanding 20,594 20,347 20,347 20,347 20,347
Period-end shares outstanding 20,484 20,347 20,347 20,347 20,347

(a) The Pro Forma results for years 2002 and prior combine the separate income statements and balance sheets for Infinity’s nonstandard auto subsidiaries (“NSA Group”) and
the personal insurance business assumed by Infinity as part of the initial public offering completed in February 2003. Pro Forma adjustments have been made for the following
items: (i) investment income on the $125.3 million portfolio transferred with the Assumed Agency Business at its market yield of 4.4%; (ii) interest expense on the $55 million
note issued in December 2002; and (iii) income tax effects on applicable items.

(b) Shown gross of all reinsurance for both the NSA and Assumed Agency Business. The 2003 amount excludes $48 million of unearned premium transferred with the Assumed
Agency Business on 1/1/03.
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Infinity Property and Casualty Corporation and Subsidiaries

Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations

GENERAL

Following is a discussion and analysis of the financial statements
of Infinity and the financial statements of the agency business 
that Infinity assumed from American Financial Group’s (“AFG”) pri-
mary operating subsidiary, Great American Insurance (“GAI”) on
January 1, 2003. Together, these businesses comprise Infinity’s oper-
ations since that date. References in this discussion to Infinity include
the NSA Group and the Assumed Agency Business unless the con-
text indicates otherwise. This discussion should be read in con-
junction with the audited financial statements, and following, the
financial statements of the Assumed Agency Business as of and for
the twelve month periods ended December 31, 2002 and 2001.

Infinity was incorporated in the state of Ohio in September 2002
as an indirect wholly owned subsidiary of AFG. On December 31,
2002, AFG transferred to Infinity all of the outstanding common
stock of the following personal auto insurance subsidiaries: Atlanta
Casualty Company, Infinity Insurance Company, Leader Insurance
Company and Windsor Insurance Company (collectively the
“NSA Group”).

Through a reinsurance transaction effective January 1, 2003,
Infinity acquired the Assumed Agency Business consisting of the
personal lines business written through independent agents by
GAI. The Assumed Agency Business had net earned premiums 
of $107 million in 2002 consisting primarily of standard and pre-
ferred private passenger automobile insurance. The Assumed
Agency Business is not included in Infinity’s historical financial
statements for periods prior to 2003.

The acquisition of the NSA Group and the assumption of the
Assumed Agency Business have been accounted for at AFG’s his-
torical carrying amounts as transfers of net assets between entities
under common control in accordance with Statement of Financial
Accounting Standards No. 141.

CRITICAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES

The preparation of financial statements requires management to
make estimates and assumptions that can have a significant effect
on amounts reported in the financial statements. As more information
becomes known, these estimates and assumptions could change
and thus impact amounts reported in the future. Management
believes that the establishment of insurance reserves, the determi-
nation of other-than-temporary impairment on investments, and
accruals for litigation are the areas where the degree of judgment
required to determine amounts recorded in the financial statements
make the accounting policies critical.

Insurance Reserves
Insurance reserves, or “Unpaid Losses and Loss Adjustment
Expenses,” are management’s best estimate of the ultimate amounts
that will be paid for all claims that have been reported up to the
date of the current accounting period but that have not yet been
paid, plus an estimate of claims that have occurred but have not
yet been reported to the company (“incurred but not reported,” or
“IBNR”), and the expenses to be paid to settle claims (allocated
and unallocated loss adjustment expenses, or “ALAE” and ULAE“).

Liabilities for the costs of losses and LAE for both reported and
unreported claims are estimated based on historical trends adjusted
for changes in loss cost trends, underwriting standards, policy
provisions, product mix and other factors. Estimating dollar amounts
for unpaid losses and LAE is inherently judgmental and is influenced
by factors, which are subject to significant variation. Changes in
underlying estimates or assumptions and the resulting adjustments
to reserves are reflected in the results of operations in the periods
in which estimates change.

Management analyzes the adequacy of reserves using actuarial
data and analytical reserve development techniques, including pro-
jections of ultimate paid losses, to determine the ultimate amounts
of reserves. Historical medical, hospitalization, material repair
and replacement costs, general economic trends and the legal
environment are examples of major factors taken into account in
developing these estimates.

In developing IBNR reserve amounts, quarterly estimates are
made of ultimate frequency, or number of claims per earned car
year, and severity, or claim cost per earned car year. Frequency
can be affected by factors such as driving patterns, gas prices,
changes in classes of insured drivers and weather events. Factors
affecting the severity trend include medical cost and product
repair cost trends, and litigation expense patterns. Management
believes that Infinity’s relatively low average policy limit and con-
centration on the nonstandard auto driver classification help stabi-
lize fluctuations in frequency and severity.

An increase in either frequency or severity of 1% for the current
accident year would decrease earnings per share by $0.14.

Other-than-Temporary Losses on Investments
Changes in the market values of investment securities are usually
recorded as changes in unrealized gains or losses on investments,
a component of shareholders’ equity. Net earnings are not affected
until the disposition of a given security or if an unrealized loss is
deemed to be other-than-temporary, an impairment charge is
recorded as a realized capital loss and the cost basis of the secu-
rity is reduced.



The determination of whether unrealized losses are other-than-
temporary requires judgment based on subjective as well as
objective factors. Factors considered and resources used by man-
agement include:

• whether the unrealized loss is credit-driven or a result of
changes in market interest rates;

• the extent to which market value is less than cost basis;

• historical operating, balance sheet and cash flow data
contained in issuer SEC filings;

• issuer news releases;

• near-term prospects for improvement in the issuer and/or 
its industry;

• industry research and communications with industry specialists;

• third party research and credit rating reports;

• internally generated financial models and forecasts;

• discussions with issuer management; and

• ability and intent to hold the investment for a period of time
sufficient to allow for any anticipated recovery in market value.

Infinity recorded pretax impairment charges on securities as fol-
lows (in thousands):

Twelve months ended
December 31,

2003 2002

Fixed maturities $3,877 $6,315
Equities 566 3,095

Total $4,443 $9,410

The following chart summarizes Infinity’s security positions with
unrealized losses which were less than twelve months old and
greater than twelve months old as of December 31, 2003 
(in thousands):

Less than twelve months

Number of Amortized Market Unrealized
Securities Cost Value Loss

Fixed maturities 52 $187,885 $185,752 $2,133
Equity securities 4 6,325 6,268 57

Total 56 $194,210 $192,020 $2,190

Greater than twelve months

Number of Amortized Market Unrealized
Securities Cost Value Loss

Fixed maturities 9 $ 12,320 $ 11,883 $ 437
Equity securities — — — —

Total 9 $ 12,320 $ 11,883 $ 437

Management regularly evaluates for potential impairment each
security position that (i) has a market value of less than 80% of its
book value or (ii) exceeds $100,000, as well as each position held
for which one or more impairment charges have been recorded in
the past. The process of evaluation includes assessments of each
bullet point listed above. For the unrealized loss positions in the
chart, the majority of the evidence that management gathered and
considered indicated near-term recovery, resulting in conclusions
that these particular unrealized losses were more likely of a tem-
porary nature. Should the preponderance of evidence turn nega-
tive for one or all of these positions in the future, impairment
charges would likely be recorded. Since it is not possible to accu-
rately predict if or when a specific security will become other-than-
temporarily impaired, total impairment charges could be material
to the results of operations in a future period. Management believes
that it is not likely, however, that such impairment charges will
have a significant effect on Infinity’s liquidity.

Accruals for Litigation
Infinity continually evaluates potential liabilities and reserves for
litigation using the criteria established by Statement of Financial
Accounting Standard (“SFAS”) No. 5, Accounting for Contingen-
cies. Under this guidance, reserves for loss may only be recorded
if the likelihood of occurrence is probable and the amount is
reasonably estimable. Management considers each legal action
using this guidance and records reserves for losses as appropriate.
Infinity believes the current assumptions and other considerations
used to estimate potential liability for litigation are appropriate.
While it is not possible to know with certainty the ultimate out-
come of these claims or lawsuits, management does not expect
them to have a material effect on Infinity’s financial condition,
liquidity or results of operations.

LIQUIDITY AND CAPITAL RESOURCES

Ratios
The NAIC’s model law for risk-based capital (“RBC”) provides
formulas to determine the amount of capital that an insurance com-
pany needs to ensure that it has an acceptable expectation of not
becoming financially impaired. At December 31, 2003, the cap-
ital ratios of all Infinity insurance companies substantially exceeded
the RBC requirements.

Sources of Funds
Infinity is organized as a holding company with all of its operations
being conducted by its insurance subsidiaries. Accordingly, Infinity
will have continuing cash needs for administrative expenses, the
payment of principal and interest on borrowings, shareholder
dividends and taxes. Funds to meet these obligations will come
primarily from dividends and distributions from the insurance
subsidiaries.
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Infinity Property and Casualty Corporation and Subsidiaries

Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations
(continued)

Infinity plans to file a consolidated federal income tax return
including all 80%-owned U.S. subsidiaries for periods after the
initial public offering. Infinity has executed a tax allocation agree-
ment with its eligible subsidiaries under which each subsidiary
agrees to pay Infinity taxes computed on a separate company tax-
able income basis. Infinity agrees to pay each subsidiary for the
tax benefit, if any, of net losses used by other members of the con-
solidated group. The resulting provision or credit will be currently
payable to or from the parent company, Infinity Property and
Casualty Corporation.

In July 2003, Infinity secured a $200 million, seven-year amortiz-
ing term loan and added a revolving credit line of $20 million in
the fourth quarter of 2003. Proceeds of $110 million were con-
tributed to Infinity’s insurance subsidiaries to support future growth
of their business and reduce their reliance on reinsurance. The
remaining proceeds were used to repay a $55 million promissory
note issued in connection with Infinity’s initial public offering and
for general corporate purposes. The term loan was collateralized
by the assets of Infinity including a pledge of stock of Infinity’s
insurance subsidiaries and contained various covenants that require
Infinity to meet certain minimum net worth and financial ratio stan-
dards. Principal payments of $4.5 million were made in 2003
and a required supplemental payment of $2.5 million was made
in January 2004 from the proceeds of the over-allotment share
issuance in connection with the secondary stock offering.

In February 2004 Infinity issued $200 million of senior notes due
2014, bearing a fixed 5.5% interest rate. Interest payments due in
2004 are $5.5 million. The proceeds of this offering were used
to prepay in full the principal balance of the term loan. See Note
14 to the Consolidated Financial Statements for more information
on this transaction.

Infinity’s insurance subsidiaries generate liquidity primarily by col-
lecting and investing premiums in advance of paying claims.
Infinity had positive cash flow from operations of approximately $69
million in 2003, $45 million in 2002, and $33 million in 2001.

As of December 31, 2003, Infinity Property and Casualty Corpo-
ration had $64.5 million of cash and investments, of which
$11.1 million was owed to its subsidiaries.

In 2003, Infinity’s operating subsidiaries paid Infinity $39 million
in ordinary dividends. In 2004, they may pay to Infinity up to
$46 million in ordinary dividends without prior regulatory approval.
Management believes that Infinity’s cash and investment balances
and cash flows generated from operations, including dividends
and distributions from its subsidiaries, are adequate to meet its
future liquidity needs.

Quota Share Agreement
Infinity utilizes the reinsurance market to manage its capital and
surplus levels relative to its reserve liabilities, supporting its capacity

for growth as well as manage its risk. Throughout 2002, Infinity’s
insurance subsidiaries ceded 90% of their personal auto physical
damage business on a funds-withheld basis to Inter-Ocean. Infinity
renewed this agreement for 2003 on terms substantially equiva-
lent to those in effect in 2002 except that Infinity added the flexi-
bility to elect, on a quarterly basis, the percentage of business to
be ceded under the reinsurance agreement. The allowable range
was between 90% and 20%.

Because Infinity obtained the $200 million term loan facility, the
amount of premiums ceded under this agreement was reduced
from 90% to 20% for the third and fourth quarters of 2003.
Premiums ceded under this agreement for the twelve month periods
ended December 31, 2003 and 2002 were $169.5 million and
$296.1 million, respectively.

In September 2002, the Inter-Ocean agreement was amended to
include coverage of GAI’s personal lines that Infinity would other-
wise assume as part of the Assumed Agency Business. Accordingly,
GAI’s participation in the Inter-Ocean reinsurance agreement
reduces the size of the Assumed Agency Business. Premiums ceded
by GAI under this agreement were $22.2 million and $78.5 mil-
lion for the twelve month periods ended December 31, 2003 and
2002, respectively.

Effective January 1, 2004, Infinity entered into a new reinsurance
agreement with American Re under essentially the same terms as
the Inter-Ocean agreement except the minimum amount of physical
damage premiums permitted to be ceded is 10% and the agree-
ment does not cover the Assumed Agency Business. Infinity is ceding
10% of physical damage premiums for the first quarter of 2004.

Investments
Infinity’s investment portfolio at December 31, 2003, contained
$1,245.8 million in fixed maturity securities and $21.4 million in
equity securities, all carried at market value with unrealized gains
and losses reported as a separate component of shareholders’
equity on an after-tax basis. At December 31, 2003, Infinity had
pretax net unrealized gains of $53 million on fixed maturities and
$2 million on equity securities.

Approximately 92% of the fixed maturities that Infinity held were
rated “investment grade” (credit rating of AAA to BBB) by nation-
ally recognized rating agencies at December 31, 2003. Investment
grade securities generally bear lower yields and lower degrees of
risk than those that are unrated or non-investment grade. Manage-
ment believes that a high quality investment portfolio is more likely
to generate a stable and predictable investment return.

Investments in mortgage-backed securities (“MBSs”) represented
approximately one-fifth of Infinity’s fixed maturities at December 31,
2003. MBSs are subject to significant prepayment risk due to the
fact that, in periods of declining interest rates, mortgages may be
repaid more rapidly than scheduled as borrowers refinance higher



rate mortgages to take advantage of lower rates. When these pre-
payments occur faster than planned, market rates are usually lower
for new investments than those that were prepaid. For both twelve
month periods ended December 31, 2003 and 2002, prepayments
on MBSs were approximately $45 million. Approximately 98% of
Infinity’s MBSs are rated “AAA” and all are investment grade.

Individual portfolio securities are sold, creating gains or losses as
market opportunities exist. Since all of these securities are carried
at market value on the balance sheet, there is virtually no effect on

liquidity or financial condition upon the sale and ultimate realiza-
tion of unrealized gains and losses. The average duration of Infinity’s
fixed maturity portfolio was 4.6 years at December 31, 2003.

Summarized information for securities with unrealized gains and
losses in Infinity’s balance sheet at December 31, 2003 is shown
in the following table (dollars in millions). Approximately $6.8 mil-
lion of “Fixed Maturities” and $3.3 million of “Equity Securities”
had no unrealized gains or losses at December 31, 2003.
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Summarized information for Infinity’s investment portfolio follows (in millions):
Gross Gross

Amortized Unrealized Unrealized Market % of
December 31, 2003 Cost Gains Losses Value Total

Fixed Maturities $1,192.4 $ 55.6 $ 2.3 $1,245.8 98%
Common Stocks 19.2 2.2 — 21.4 2%

Total $1,211.6 $ 57.8 $ 2.3 $1,267.2 100%

Gross Gross
Amortized Unrealized Unrealized Market % of

December 31, 2002 Cost Gains Losses Value Total

Fixed Maturities $ 917.1 $50.9 $12.4 $ 955.6 98%
Common Stocks 19.1 0.4 1.9 17.6 2%

Total $ 936.2 $51.3 $14.3 $ 973.2 100%

December 31,

2003 2002

Number of positions held with unrealized:
Gains 456 345
Losses 69 61

Number of positions held that 
individually exceed unrealized:
Gains of $500,000 9 14
Losses of $500,000 — 7

Percentage of positions held with unrealized:
Gains that were investment grade 89% 98%
Losses that were investment grade 84% 44%

Infinity’s investment portfolio had gross unrealized losses of $2.3
million at December 31, 2003. There was no single industry seg-
ment concentration that accounted for more than $1 million of
these losses at that date. At December 31, 2002, Infinity’s invest-
ment portfolio included $14.3 million of gross unrealized losses;
$4.7 million of these losses were in securities issued by compa-
nies in the airline industry and $1.8 million was in securities
issued by an electric service industry firm. No other industry seg-
ment accounted for more than $1 million of unrealized losses at
December 31, 2002.



Infinity Property and Casualty Corporation and Subsidiaries

Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations
(continued)

The table below sets forth the scheduled maturities of fixed maturity securities at December 31, 2003 based on their market values (in millions).
Securities that do not have a single maturity date are reported at average maturity. Actual maturities may differ from contractual maturities
because certain securities may be called or prepaid by the issuers.

Securities
Securities Securities With No

With With Unrealized
Unrealized Unrealized Gains or All Fixed

Maturity Gains Losses Losses Maturities

One year or less $ 26 $ — $— $ 26
After one year through five years 340 35 — 375
After five years through ten years 409 80 4 493
After ten years 99 11 1 111
Mortgage-backed securities 155 85 1 241

$1,029 $211 $ 6 $1,246

Contractual obligations
Infinity’s contractual obligations as of December 31, 2003 are 
(in thousands):

Long-Term Operating
Due in: Debt(a) Leases Total(b)

2004 $ 22,210 $19,400 $ 41,611
2005-2006 60,570 27,757 88,326
2007-2008 106,979 17,705 124,684
2009 and after 131,763 24,600 156,363

Total $321,522 $89,462 $410,984

(a) Includes an additional payment of $2,475,000 made on January 8, 2004, per-
taining to the transaction described in Note 4 to the Consolidated Financial
Statements. In February 2004, this loan arrangement was replaced with a Senior
Note offering, with the following payment commitment schedule:

2004 $ 5.5 million
2005-2006 $ 22.0 million
2007-2008 $ 22.0 million
2009 and after $260.5 million

Total $310.0 million

(b) Not included are total reserves for losses for known and unknown claims which
totaled $709.9 million at December 31, 2003. It is not possible to reliably
predict the timing of payment for these liabilities.

Uncertainties/Risk Factors

Exposure to Market Risk
Market risk represents the potential economic loss arising from
adverse changes in the fair value of financial instruments. Infinity’s
exposures to market risk relate primarily to its investment portfolio,
which is exposed to interest rate risk and, to a lesser extent, equity
price risk.

Fixed Maturity Portfolio
The fair value of Infinity’s fixed maturity portfolio is directly impacted
by changes in market interest rates. Infinity’s fixed maturity portfolio
is comprised of substantially all fixed rate investments with prima-
rily short-term and intermediate-term maturities. This practice allows

flexibility in reacting to fluctuations of interest rates. The portfolios
of Infinity’s insurance companies are managed with an attempt to
achieve an adequate risk-adjusted return while maintaining suffi-
cient liquidity to meet policyholder obligations.

The following table provides information about Infinity’s fixed matu-
rity investments at December 31, 2003 and 2002, which are
sensitive to interest rate risk. The table shows expected principal
cash flows (in millions) by expected maturity date for each of the
five subsequent years and collectively for all years thereafter.
Callable bonds and notes are included based on call date or
maturity date depending upon which date produces the most con-
servative yield. MBSs and sinking fund issues are included, based
on maturity year adjusted for expected payment patterns. Actual
cash flows may differ from those expected.

Principal Principal
Cash Flows Cash Flows

December 31, December 31,
2003 2002

2004 $ 66.9 2003 $105.0
2005 93.8 2004 76.6
2006 120.4 2005 122.9
2007 123.3 2006 100.3
2008 157.1 2007 97.9
Thereafter 608.3 Thereafter 404.1

Total $1,169.8 Total $906.8

Fair Value $1,245.8 Fair Value $955.6

Equity Price Risk
Equity price risk is the potential economic loss from adverse
changes in equity security prices. Although Infinity’s investment in
equity securities is only 2% of total investments, it is concentrated
in a relatively limited number of positions; approximately half of the
total is in three investments; two of these three are electric utilities.
While this approach allows management to more closely monitor



the companies and industries in which they operate, it does increase
risk exposure to adverse price declines in a major position.

RESULTS OF OPERATIONS

Underwriting
Infinity’s insurance subsidiaries sell nonstandard, standard and pre-
ferred personal auto insurance and, to a lesser extent, nonstandard
commercial auto coverage and a complement of other personal
lines insurance products. Nonstandard coverage is a product
designed for drivers who, due to their driving record, age or vehicle
type, represent higher than normal risks and pay higher rates for
comparable coverage.

Underwriting profitability is measured by the combined ratio, which
is a sum of the ratios of losses, LAE and underwriting expenses to
earned premiums. When the combined ratio is under 100%,
underwriting results are generally considered profitable; when the
ratio is over 100%, underwriting results are generally considered
unprofitable. The combined ratio does not reflect investment income,
other income or federal income taxes.

While losses on claims reported are generally determinable, the
process of determining overall loss and LAE reserves is also highly
dependent upon the use of estimates in the case of losses incurred
or expected but not yet reported or developed. Actuarial proce-
dures and projections are used to obtain “best estimates” which
are then included in the overall results. These estimates are subject
to changes in claim amounts and frequency, and are periodically
reviewed and adjusted, as additional information becomes
known. In accordance with industry practices, such adjustments are
reflected in current year underwriting results. As a result, the ratio of
loss and LAE expenses component of the combined ratio includes
development of prior year reserves in addition to provision for
losses and LAE occurring in the current year.

Underwriting expenses include expenses that vary directly with
premium volume (commissions and premium taxes) as well as
expenses that are relatively fixed (administrative expenses).
Accordingly, underwriting expenses tend to move in the same
direction as premiums but at a slower rate. As a result, the under-
writing expense ratio tends to decrease when premiums grow and
increase when premiums decline.

Since early 2000, Infinity’s insurance subsidiaries have been
increasing their premium rates with a goal of achieving underwrit-
ing profits, even if it entails foregoing volume. As with all property
and casualty companies, the beneficial impact of these price
increases is reflected in Infinity’s financial results over time. Infinity
implements price increases on its in-force policies as they are

renewed, which generally takes between six and twelve months for
the entire book of business. Infinity recognizes increased premiums
on particular policies as the premiums are earned, generally over
the course of the six to twelve months after the policy is effective.

Net earned premiums and combined ratios for Infinity and the
Assumed Agency Business were (in millions):

2003 2002 2001

Net Earned Premiums (GAAP)
NSA Group:

Gross written premiums $ 868.3 $ 914.6 $ 962.3
Ceded reinsurance (187.5) (301.6) (224.7)

Net written premiums 680.8 613.0 737.6
Change in unearned premiums (75.2) 32.9 178.8

Net earned premiums $ 605.6 $ 645.9 $ 916.4

Assumed Agency Business:
Net written premiums gross of 

the Inter-Ocean agreement $ 159.1 $ 152.8 $ 165.3
Ceded premiums under the 

Inter-Ocean agreement (22.3) (78.5) —

Net written premiums net of 
the Inter-Ocean agreement 136.8 74.3 165.3

Change in unearned premiums (43.7) 32.9 (15.4)

Net earned premiums $ 93.1 $ 107.2 $ 149.9

Combined Ratios (GAAP)
NSA Group:

Loss and LAE ratio 79.5% 81.8% 82.1%
Underwriting expense ratio 10.3% 12.2% 22.1%

Combined ratio 89.8% 94.0% 104.2%

Assumed Agency Business:
Loss and LAE ratio 81.4% 84.9% 81.2%
Underwriting expense ratio 28.0% 24.4% 28.6%

Combined ratio 109.4% 109.3% 109.8%

Weighted Average of Infinity 
and Agency:
Loss and LAE ratio 79.8% 82.2% 82.0%
Underwriting expense ratio 12.7% 13.9% 22.9%

Combined ratio 92.5% 96.1% 104.9%

Combined ratio gross of 
Inter-Ocean agreement 94.3% 97.3% 104.5%
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Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations
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2003 compared to 2002
The NSA Group’s net earned premiums fell $40.3 million, or
6.2%, in the twelve month period ended December 31, 2003
compared to the twelve month period ended December 31,
2002 primarily as a result of actions taken to discontinue writing
inadequately priced business in certain focus states. Earned pre-
miums excluding the effect of the Inter-Ocean reinsurance agree-
ment declined 12% to $833 million, due primarily to a reduction
in business volume partially offset by rate increases. The loss and
LAE ratio improved by 2.3% points for the twelve month period
ended December 31, 2003 from the same period in 2002.
Excluding the effects of the Inter-Ocean reinsurance agreement,
the loss and LAE ratio improved 1.7% points. The expense ratio
improved by 1.9% points in 2003 compared to 2002 primarily
as a result of savings from consolidation efforts taken. Excluding
the effect of the Inter-Ocean agreement, the expense ratio
improved 1.6% points from 22.1% in the twelve months ended
December 31, 2002 to 20.5% in the same period in 2003.

The Assumed Agency Business’ net earned premiums decreased
$14.1 million, or 13.2%, for the twelve month period ended
December 31, 2003 compared to the twelve month period
ended December 31, 2002 primarily as a result of a reduction in
business volume. Earned premiums excluding the effect of the Inter-
Ocean reinsurance agreement declined $29.9 million, or a reduc-
tion of 18.4%, due primarily to a reduction in business volume
partially offset by rate increases. The loss and LAE ratios for the
Assumed Agency Business improved from 84.9% during the
twelve month period ended December 31, 2002 to 81.4% as a
result of increases in rates, lower frequency of claims per auto
insured and moderate increases in the average cost per claim as
well as a reduction in business in the non-focus states. Excluding
the effects of the Inter-Ocean reinsurance agreement, the loss and
LAE ratio improved from 77.8% to 74.4%. The expense ratio
increased 3.6% points from 24.4% for the twelve month period
ended December 31, 2002 to 28.0% for the same period in
2003. Excluding the effects of the Inter-Ocean reinsurance agree-
ment, the expense ratio increased by 1.3% points from 28.3% for
the twelve months of 2002 to 29.6% for 2003. This increase was
attributable to a charge of $4.0 million from an increase in the
rate of amortization of deferred acquisition costs following a peri-
odic review of the deferability of specific acquisition costs.
Excluding this charge, the expense ratio fell 1.7% points for the
twelve month period ended December 31, 2003 from the same
period in 2002.

2002 compared to 2001
Infinity’s net earned premiums decreased $271 million (30%) during
2002 due primarily to the Inter-Ocean reinsurance agreement,
effective April 1, 2001, under which Infinity ceded 90% of the

personal automobile physical damage business written by its insur-
ance subsidiaries during 2002. Excluding the effect of this agree-
ment, net earned premiums declined approximately 9%, reflecting
lower business volume partially offset by the impact of rate
increases. Policies in force declined 16% from approximately
734,000 on December 31, 2001 to 616,000 on December
31, 2002. The decline in policy counts is due to rate increases
and actions taken to reduce business in certain non-focus or non-
profitable states as well as decisions by insureds not to renew.
During 2002, Infinity increased personal auto rates about 12%
over rates in effect at year-end 2001. Underwriting expenses in
2002 include the effect of $130.4 million in ceding commissions
earned under the Inter-Ocean reinsurance agreement. Commis-
sions earned under this agreement generally vary directly with the
loss and LAE ratio on the business ceded. Accordingly, Infinity’s
expense ratio reflects the benefit of strong underwriting results in
the business ceded to Inter-Ocean. Overall, Infinity’s combined
ratio improved 10.2 points over 2001 due primarily to recent rate
increases. Excluding the effect of the Inter-Ocean agreement,
Infinity’s combined ratio for 2002 was 95.9% compared to
103.7% in 2001.

Net earned premiums of the Assumed Agency Business decreased
$43 million (28%) in 2002, reflecting the impact of the Inter-Ocean
reinsurance agreement, effective January 1, 2002, under which
90% of GAI’s personal automobile physical damage business writ-
ten through independent agents was ceded. Excluding the effect
of this agreement, net earned premiums increased $12.1 million
(8%) reflecting rate increases implemented in the later part of
2001, partially offset by a reduction in volume from certain
unprofitable business. The combined ratio was flat as an increase
in prior year development was offset by the shift away from under-
performing business and the increase in rates over the past year.
Underwriting expenses fell $16.6 million in 2002 compared to
2001, reflecting GAI’s $19.7 million ceding commissions earned
on premiums ceded under the Inter-Ocean reinsurance agreement.

The remaining discussion of results of operations relates to Infinity’s
Consolidated Statement of Operations.

Investment Income
Changes in investment income reflect fluctuations in market rates and
changes in average invested assets. Fluctuations in average invested
assets reflect primarily the timing of dividends and capital contribu-
tions as capital requirements and the cash needs of Infinity change.

The Assumed Agency Business represents a portion of GAI’s per-
sonal lines business and is not a separate legal entity; accordingly,
it does not have a separate investment portfolio and related invest-
ment income.



2003 compared to 2002
Net investment income decreased $4.1 million for the twelve
month period ended December 31, 2003 versus the comparable
2002 period due to lower yields available for newly invested
funds, and to a lesser extent due to a reallocation to tax-advantaged
securities, partially offset by an increase in average invested
assets of 10.4%. Average invested assets increased as a result of
the transfer at January 1, 2003 of $125.3 million of securities and
cash in conjunction with Infinity’s assumption of insurance liabilities
of the Assumed Agency Business, as well as proceeds received in
July 2003 from the term loan.

2002 compared to 2001
Net investment income decreased $14.0 million in 2002 com-
pared to 2001 due primarily to (i) a $4.6 million increase in inter-
est expense (included in net investment income) on funds held from
the aforementioned automobile reinsurance agreement, (ii) a
decrease in interest rates and (iii) an 8% decrease in average
invested assets. Average invested assets decreased due primarily
to dividends paid in the fourth quarter of 2001 and the last three
quarters of 2002.

Realized Gains (Losses) on Investments

2003 compared to 2002
Infinity recorded impairments for unrealized losses deemed other-
than-temporary and realized gains on sales and disposals as
follows (before tax, in thousands):

Twelve months ended December 31, 2003

Impairments
on Securities Realized Gains Total Realized

Held on Sales Gains (Losses)

Fixed Maturities $(3,879) $5,124 $1,245
Equities (564) 278 (286)

Total $(4,443) $5,402 $ 959

2002 compared to 2001
Realized gains (losses) on investments include provisions for other-
than-temporary impairment of securities still held of $9.4 million in
2002 and $16.2 million in 2001. Increased impairment charges
in recent years reflect, among other things, a rise in corporate
defaults in the marketplace.

Infinity owned warrants to buy the common stock of a publicly
traded company in 2002. Under generally accepted accounting
principles, these investments are considered derivatives and marked
to market, resulting in realized gains and losses. Realized gains
(losses) on investments include a loss of $281,000 in 2002 to
adjust the carrying value of these warrants to their market value of
$883,000 at December 31, 2002.

Other Income
Other income increased $8.1 million for the twelve month period
ended December 31, 2003 from the corresponding 2002 period,
primarily due to a nonrecurring gain of $6.7 million on the com-
mutation of service and indemnity agreements with AFG and
increased finance and service charge income.

Interest Expense
Interest expense was accrued at a fixed rate of 8.5% on the $55
million note due to AFG until its repayment in mid-July, 2003 using
a portion of the proceeds of the $200 million term loan. The term
loan accrued interest at a variable rate, which averaged 3.7%
from the date of issue through December 31, 2003. The risk of
variability in future interest expense was partially hedged by the
interest-rate swap. See Note 4 to the Consolidated Financial
Statements for more information on this instrument.

For the twelve month period ended December 31, 2003, interest
expense was (in thousands):

$55 million note due to AFG $2,545
$200 million term loan 3,422
Interest-rate swap 565

Total $6,532

Other Operating and General Expenses

2003 compared to 2002
Corporate general and administrative expenses include costs
associated with the new parent company beginning in February
2003. Other expenses fell $4.4 million for the twelve month period
ended December 31, 2003 from the same period in 2002 due
primarily to a $5.3 million litigation settlement in 2002.

2002 compared to 2001
Other operating and general expenses for 2001 include goodwill
amortization of $2.2 million. Under SFAS No. 142, which was
implemented January 1, 2002, goodwill is no longer amortized.
Excluding 2001 goodwill amortization, other operating and general
expenses increased $9.2 million due primarily to a $5.3 million
litigation settlement in 2002.

Income Taxes
Infinity’s effective tax rate was 33.4% in 2003, 35% in 2002,
and 38% in 2001. See Note 6 to the Consolidated Financial
Statements for an analysis of items affecting the effective tax rate.
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Report of Independent Auditors

Board of Directors
Infinity Property and Casualty Corporation

We have audited the accompanying consolidated balance sheets
of Infinity Property and Casualty Corporation and subsidiaries (the
“Company”) as of December 31, 2003 and 2002, and the related
consolidated statements of earnings, changes in shareholders’
equity and cash flows for each of the three years in the period
ended December 31, 2003. These financial statements are the
responsibility of the Company’s management. Our responsibility 
is to express an opinion on these financial statements based on
our audits.

We conducted our audits in accordance with auditing standards
generally accepted in the United States. Those standards require
that we plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assur-
ance about whether the financial statements are free of material
misstatement. An audit includes examining, on a test basis, evidence
supporting the amounts and disclosures in the financial statements.
An audit also includes assessing the accounting principles used
and significant estimates made by management, as well as 

evaluating the overall financial statement presentation. We believe
that our audits provide a reasonable basis for our opinion.

In our opinion, the financial statements referred to above present
fairly, in all material respects, the consolidated financial position 
of Infinity Property and Casualty Corporation and subsidiaries at
December 31, 2003 and 2002, and the consolidated results 
of their operations and their cash flows for each of the three years
in the period ended December 31, 2003, in conformity with
accounting principles generally accepted in the United States. 

ERNST & YOUNG LLP

Cincinnati, Ohio
February 10, 2004



Infinity Property and Casualty Corporation and Subsidiaries

Consolidated Statements of Earnings

Twelve months ended December 31,
(In thousands, except per share data) 2003 2002 2001

Revenue
Earned premiums $698,714 $645,857 $916,378
Net Investment income 57,175 61,260 75,215
Realized gains (losses) on investments 959 (6,707) (5,901)
Other income 12,136 4,043 4,312

Total revenue 768,984 704,453 990,004
Costs and Expenses

Losses and loss adjustment expenses 557,308 527,786 752,336
Commission and other underwriting expenses 88,519 78,970 202,111
Interest expense 6,532 — —
Corporate general and administrative expenses 6,901 — —
Other expenses 22,320 26,764 19,763

Total expenses 681,580 633,520 974,210
Earnings before income taxes 87,404 70,933 15,794
Provision for income taxes 29,168 25,063 6,063

Net Earnings (Loss) $ 58,236 $ 45,870 $ 9,731

Earnings per Common Share
Basic $2.86 N/A N/A
Diluted $2.83 N/A N/A

Average number of Common Shares
Basic 20,348 N/A N/A
Diluted 20,594 N/A N/A

Cash dividends per Common Share $0.165 N/A N/A

See Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements
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Infinity Property and Casualty Corporation and Subsidiaries

Consolidated Balance Sheets

(In thousands, except number of shares authorized December 31,

and outstanding in line description) 2003 2002

Assets:
Investments:
Fixed maturities—at market (amortized cost—$1,192,418 and $917,104) $1,245,753 $ 955,576
Equity securities—at market (cost $19,184 and $19,136) 21,375 17,623

Total investments 1,267,128 973,199
Cash and cash equivalents 125,042 88,053
Accrued investment income 16,772 13,644
Agents’ balances and premiums receivable, net of

allowances for doubtful accounts of $7,902 and $8,941 254,026 206,795
Prepaid reinsurance premiums 42,089 91,924
Recoverables from reinsurers 31,481 34,826
Deferred policy acquisition costs 50,858 21,894
Receivable from affiliates — 1,474
Current and deferred income taxes 8,890 19,484
Prepaid expenses, deferred charges and other assets 28,563 29,241
Goodwill 75,275 70,322

Total assets $1,900,124 $1,550,856

Liabilities and Shareholders’ Equity
Unpaid losses and loss adjustment expenses $ 709,887 $ 604,026
Unearned premiums 371,716 302,627
Payable to reinsurers 36,055 74,959
Long-term debt 195,500 55,000
Payable to affiliates — 4,755
Commissions payable 23,073 18,812
Accounts payable, accrued expenses and other liabilities 108,523 103,874

Total liabilities 1,444,754 1,164,053
Shareholders’ Equity

Common Stock, no par value 50,000,000 and 1,000 shares authorized
20,483,958 and 1,000 shares outstanding 20,484 1

Additional paid-in capital 324,787 342,743
Retained earnings 74,856 20,000
Unearned compensations (restricted stock) (1,000) —
Unrealized gain, net 36,243 24,059

Total shareholders’ equity 455,370 386,803

Total liabilities shareholders’ equity $1,900,124 $1,550,856

See Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements



Infinity Property and Casualty Corporation and Subsidiaries

Consolidated Statements of Changes in Shareholders’ Equity

Common
Stock and

Paid-in Retained Unrealized Unearned
(In thousands) Capital Earnings Gain (Loss) Compensation Total

Balance at December 31, 2000 $ 656,383 $(35,601) $ (6,600) — $ 614,182

Net earnings — $ 9,731 — — $ 9,731
Change in unrealized gain, net of tax — — 9,528 — 9,528

Comprehensive income 19,259
Return of capital (69,350) — — — (69,350)
Other (1,334) — — — (1,334)

Balance at December 31, 2001 $ 585,699 $(25,870) $ 2,928 — $ 562,757

Net earnings — $ 45,870 — — $ 45,870
Change in unrealized gain, net of tax — — $21,131 — $ 21,131

Comprehensive income 67,001
Return of capital (189,476) — — — (189,476)
Issuance of shares to AFG 1 — — — 1
Issuance of Note Payable to AFG (55,000) — — — (55,000)
Other 1,520 — — — 1,520

Balance at December 31, 2002 $ 342,744 $ 20,000 $24,059 — $ 386,803

Net earnings — 58,236 — — 58,236
Change in unrealized gain, net of tax — — 11,969 — 11,969
Unrealized gain on derivative — — 215 — 215

Comprehensive income 70,420
Dividends paid to common stockholders — (3,380) — — (3,380)
Issuance of restricted stock awards 2,150 — — $(2,150) —
Amortization of unearned compensation — — — 1,150 1,150
Exercise of stock options 40 — — — 40
Capital contribution 2,476 — — — 2,476
Other (2,139) — — — (2,139)

Balance at December 31, 2003 $ 345,271 $ 74,856 $ 36,243 $ (1,000) $ 455,370

See Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements
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Infinity Property and Casualty Corporation and Subsidiaries

Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows

Year ended December 31,

(In thousands) 2003 2002 2001

Operating Activities
Net earnings $  58,236 $ 45,870 $ 9,731
Adjustments:

Depreciation and amortization 17,621 13,741 13,548
Realized (gains) losses on investments (959) 6,707 5,901
Change in accrued investment income (1,648) 2,719 1,049
Change in agents balances and premiums receivable (7,006) 31,480 72,814
Change in reinsurance receivable 92,461 8,247 (119,849)
Change in deferred policy acquisition costs (17,812) 18,054 43,807
Change in other assets (3,771) 4,601 (1,468)
Change in balances with affiliates 7,844 1,645 (6,647)
Change in insurance claims and reserves (37,932) (78,026) (78,833)
Change in payable to reinsurers (38,904) (16,004) 88,705
Change in other liabilities 132 4,833 5,519
Other, net 1,176 1,617 (1,287)

Net cash provided by operating activities 69,438 45,484 32,990
Investing Activities

Purchases of and additional investments in:
Fixed maturity investments (419,844) (325,783) (531,892)
Equity securities (11,711) (109) —
Property and equipment (2,096) (4,105) (17,785)

Maturities and redemptions of fixed maturity investments 166,672 105,471 67,402
Sales of:

Fixed maturity investments 89,836 295,130 384,137
Equity securities 11,057 18,891 9,305
Property and equipment 177 324 16,301

Net cash (used in) provided by investing activities (165,909) 89,909 (72,532)
Financing Activities

Increase in long-term debt 196,300 — —
Repayment of long-term debt (4,500) — —
Repayment of note payable to AFG (55,000) — —
Dividends paid on Common Stock (3,380) — —
Proceeds from exercise of stock options 40 — —
Dividends and return of capital distributions — (108,041) (61,864)

Net cash provided by (used in) financing activities 133,460 (108,041) (61,864)
Net Increase (Decrease) in Cash and Short-Term Investments 36,989 27,352 (101,406)
Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of period 88,053 60,701 162,107

Cash and cash equivalents at end of period $ 125,042 $ 88,053 $ 60,701

See Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements



Infinity Property and Casualty Corporation and Subsidiaries

Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements

NOTE 1—ORGANIZATION AND BASIS OF PRESENTATION

Infinity Property and Casualty Corporation (“Infinity”) was formed
in September 2002 as an indirect wholly-owned subsidiary of
American Financial Group (“AFG”) to acquire and conduct, as a
separate public company, AFG’s personal insurance business writ-
ten through independent agents. At December 31, 2002, AFG
transferred to Infinity all of the issued and outstanding capital stock
of the following personal auto insurance subsidiaries: Atlanta
Casualty Company, Infinity Insurance Company, Leader Insurance
Company and Windsor Insurance Company (collectively the
“NSA Group”).

Through a reinsurance transaction effective January 1, 2003,
Infinity assumed the personal lines business written through agents
(the “Assumed Agency Business”) by AFG’s principal property and
casualty subsidiary, Great American Insurance Company (“GAI”).
GAI, in turn, transferred to Infinity assets (primarily investment secu-
rities) with a market value of $125.3 million and permits Infinity to
continue to write standard and preferred insurance on policies
issued by the same GAI companies which had previously issued
such policies. This arrangement will continue until Infinity makes
the proper rate and form filings to allow its insurance subsidiaries
to write these policies or non-renews the business, which is
expected by the end of 2006.

The business assumed from GAI in 2003 is not included in the his-
torical consolidated statements of Infinity. The Assumed Agency
Business reported the following selected financial data as of
December 31, 2002 and 2001:

2002 2001

Earnings Statement Data:
Earned Premiums $107.2 $149.9
Underwriting Loss (10.0) (14.7)
Balance Sheet Data:
Assets (excluding Investments) Transferred $ 53.5 $ 78.8
Investments to be Transferred 125.3 —
Unpaid Losses and Loss Adjustment Expenses 125.6 115.9
Liabilities Transferred 178.8 200.5

At December 31, 2002, AFG beneficially owned all of Infinity’s
Common Stock. In February of 2003, AFG sold 12.5 million shares
(61%) of Infinity in an initial public offering. In December of 2003,
AFG disposed of its remaining investment (7.9 million shares) in
Infinity in a secondary public offering.

The accompanying Consolidated Financial Statements include the
accounts of Infinity and its subsidiaries as of and for the twelve
month period ended December 31, 2003. Infinity’s prior period
financial statements represent the combined statements of the NSA
Group. Earnings per share data is not applicable because the
Consolidated Statement of Operations represents the combined
statements of wholly-owned subsidiaries.

The accompanying income statements include corporate general
and administrative expenses for the twelve month periods ended
December 31, 2003, 2002, and 2001. Infinity was a wholly-
owned subsidiary of AFG for the periods prior to 2003 and
corporate holding company expenses were not allocated to
Infinity for these periods. All appropriate expenses are included in
other expenses for the twelve month periods ended December 31,
2002 and 2001. Infinity considered the guidance in Staff
Accounting Bulletin 55, Allocation of Expenses and Related
Disclosure in Financial Statements of Subsidiaries, Divisions or Lesser
Business Components of Another Entity (Topic 1.B) in preparing
these Consolidated Financial Statements.

The accompanying income statements include expenses incurred
directly by Infinity as well as charges for fees allocated by other
AFG subsidiaries to Infinity for various services. Prior to 2002,
charges billed by GAI for corporate staff services, including
human resources, risk management, legal, and financial reporting
were based on estimated usage. Beginning in 2002, these costs
are based on the percentage of capital that each of the AFG
property and casualty insurance subsidiaries needs to run its busi-
ness, which approximates estimated usage. Investment management
fees have been based on the proportion each subsidiary’s port-
folio (at market value) bears to the total portfolios being managed.
Management believes that these charges billed by AFG are rea-
sonable and the accompanying Consolidated Financial Statements
are representative of the costs of Infinity doing business on a
stand-alone basis. All significant inter-company balances and
transactions have been eliminated. The results of operations of
companies since their formation or acquisition are included in the
Consolidated Financial Statements.

The acquisition of the NSA Group has been accounted for at
AFG’s historical carrying amounts as transfers of net assets between
entities under common control in accordance with Statement of
Financial Accounting Standards No. 141.

These financial statements reflect certain adjustments necessary for
a fair presentation of Infinity’s results of operations and financial
position. Such adjustments consist of normal, recurring accruals
recorded to accurately match expenses with their related revenue
streams and the elimination of all significant inter-company trans-
actions and balances. In addition, certain reclassification adjust-
ments have been made to historical results to achieve consistency
in presentation.

The preparation of the financial statements in conformity with gen-
erally accepted accounting principles requires management to
make estimates and assumptions that affect the amounts reported
in the financial statements and accompanying notes. Changes in
circumstances could cause actual results to differ materially from
those estimates.
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Infinity Property and Casualty Corporation and Subsidiaries

Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements (continued)

NOTE 2—ACCOUNTING POLICIES

Investments
All fixed maturity securities are considered available-for-sale and
reported at fair value with unrealized gains or losses reported as
a separate component of shareholders’ equity. Premiums and dis-
counts on mortgage-backed securities are amortized over a period
based on estimated future principal payments, including prepay-
ments. Prepayment assumptions are reviewed periodically and
adjusted to reflect actual prepayments and changes in expec-
tations. The most significant determinants of prepayments are the
difference between interest rates on the underlying mortgages and
current mortgage loan rates and the structure of the security. Other
factors affecting prepayments include the size, type and age of
underlying mortgages, the geographic location of the mortgaged
properties and the credit worthiness of the borrowers. Variations
from anticipated prepayments will affect the life and yield of 
these securities.

Gains or losses on securities are determined on the specific identi-
fication basis. When a decline in the value of a specific invest-
ment is considered to be other-than-temporary, a provision for
impairment is charged to earnings and the cost basis of that invest-
ment is reduced.

Securities having a carrying value of about $44 million at
December 31, 2003 were on deposit as required by regu-
latory authorities.

Goodwill
Goodwill represents the excess of Infinity’s cost basis of its sub-
sidiaries over its equity in their underlying net assets. Through
December 31, 2001, goodwill was being amortized over peri-
ods of 20 to 40 years. SFAS No. 142, Goodwill and Other
Intangible Assets, eliminated the practice of amortizing goodwill
and instead requires that impairment test procedures be performed
on at least an annual basis. These procedures require Infinity to
calculate the fair value of goodwill, compare the result to its carry-
ing value and record the amount of any shortfall as an impairment
charge. Infinity performed this test as of October 1, 2003 using a
variety of methods, including estimates of future discounted cash
flows and comparisons of the market value of Infinity to its major
competitors as well as the overall market. The transitional test
under the new standard indicated that there was no impairment 
at that date. Infinity intends to perform this test annually each
October 1.

Goodwill amortization expense was $2.2 million for the twelve
month period ended December 31, 2001. The balance of accu-
mulated amortization was approximately $37.8 million. Had no
amortization expense been recorded in 2001, net earnings would
have been $12.0 million for the twelve month period ended 

December 31, 2001. The $5 million increase in goodwill 
during 2003 represents goodwill associated with the Assumed
Agency Business.

Reinsurance
Infinity’s insurance subsidiaries cede reinsurance to other compa-
nies. To the extent that any reinsuring companies are unable to
meet obligations under agreements covering reinsurance ceded,
Infinity’s insurance subsidiaries would remain liable. Amounts
recoverable from reinsurers are estimated in a manner consistent
with the claim liability associated with the reinsured policies.
Infinity’s insurance subsidiaries report as assets (a) the estimated
reinsurance recoverable on unpaid losses, including an estimate for
losses incurred but not reported, and (b) amounts paid to reinsurers
applicable to the unexpired terms of policies in force. Payable to
reinsurers represents ceded premiums retained by Infinity’s insur-
ance subsidiaries to fund ceded losses as they become due.
Infinity’s insurance subsidiaries also assume reinsurance, primarily
from AFG subsidiaries. Income on reinsurance assumed is recog-
nized based on reports received from ceding companies.

Deferred Policy Acquisition Costs (“DPAC”)
Policy acquisition costs (principally commissions, premium taxes and
other marketing and underwriting expenses) related to the produc-
tion of new business are deferred and charged against income
ratably over the terms of the related policies. The method followed
in computing DPAC limits the amount of such costs to their esti-
mated realizable value without any consideration for anticipated
investment income.

Unpaid Losses and Loss Adjustment Expenses
The net liabilities stated for unpaid claims and for expenses of
investigation and adjustment of unpaid claims are based upon (a) the
accumulation of case estimates for losses reported prior to the
close of the accounting period on direct business written; (b) esti-
mates received from ceding reinsurers and insurance pools and
associations; (c) estimates of unreported losses based on past
experience; (d) estimates based on experience of expenses for
investigating and adjusting claims and (e) the current state of the
law and coverage litigation. These liabilities are subject to the
impact of changes in claim amounts and frequency and other fac-
tors. Unpaid losses and loss adjustment expenses have not been
reduced for reinsurance recoverable. Changes in estimates of the
liabilities for losses and loss adjustment expenses are reflected in
the Consolidated Statement of Operations in the period in which
determined. In spite of the variability inherent in such estimates,
management believes that the liabilities for unpaid losses and loss
adjustment expenses are adequate.

Premiums and Receivables
Insurance premiums written are earned over the terms of the policies
on a pro rata basis. Unearned premiums represent that portion of
premiums written which is applicable to the unexpired terms of



policies in force. On reinsurance assumed from other insurance
companies or written through various underwriting organizations,
unearned premiums are based on reports received from such com-
panies and organizations. Infinity provides insurance and related
services to individuals and small commercial accounts throughout
the United States and offers a variety of payment plans. Infinity estab-
lishes an allowance for doubtful accounts based on prior experi-
ence, the relationship between receivables and unearned premium,
on a policy basis, and an aging process of past due balances.

Income Taxes
Infinity will file a consolidated federal income tax return including
all 80%-owned U.S. subsidiaries for periods following its initial
public offering. Infinity and its 80%-owned subsidiaries are parties
to a tax allocation agreement effective for periods following the
offering which designates how tax payments are shared by mem-
bers of the tax group. In general, each subsidiary agrees to pay
Infinity taxes computed on a separate company taxable income
basis. Infinity agrees to pay each subsidiary for the tax benefit, if
any, of net losses used by other members of the consolidated
group. Taxes paid by Infinity in 2003 were $25.3 million. Prior to
the offering, Infinity and its subsidiaries were part of the American
Financial Corporation (“AFC,” an AFG subsidiary) tax group and
were parties to a tax allocation agreement with AFC. In general,
AFC companies computed taxes on a separate return basis and
made payments to (or received benefits from) AFC based on tax-
able income. Taxes allocated to Infinity while included in the AFC
tax group for the twelve month periods ended December 31,
2002 and 2001 were $25.1 million and $6.1 million, respec-
tively. The tax allocation agreements with AFC have not impacted
the recognition of income tax expense and income tax payable in
Infinity’s financial statements.

Deferred income taxes are calculated using the liability method.
Under this method, deferred income tax assets and liabilities are
determined based on differences between financial reporting and
tax basis and are measured using enacted tax rates. Deferred tax
assets are recognized if it is more likely than not that a benefit will
be realized. Current and deferred tax assets and liabilities are
aggregated on the balance sheet.

Benefit Plans
Infinity has provided retirement benefits to qualified employees of
participating companies and health care and life insurance bene-
fits to eligible retirees. Infinity also provides post-employment
benefits to former or inactive employees (primarily those on disabil-
ity) who were not deemed retired under other company plans. The
projected future cost of providing these benefits is expensed over
the period the employees earn such benefits.

Derivatives
Derivatives in the Consolidated Balance Sheets consist of invest-
ments in common stock warrants (included in equity securities at

December 31, 2002 only) and an interest-rate swap instrument
(included in the prepaid expenses, deferred charges, and other
assets line as of December 31, 2003 only). The carrying value of
the warrants was less than $1 million at December 31, 2002; they
were sold in September 2003.

The carrying value of the interest-rate swap was $0.3 million at
December 31, 2003. Periodic changes in the fair value of the
interest-rate swap are recorded net of tax in unrealized gains and
losses as permitted under the accounting rules set forth in SFAS
No. 133, Accounting for Derivative Instruments and Hedging
Activities. See Note 4 to the Consolidated Financial Statements for
more information on this instrument.

Statements of Cash Flows
For cash flow purposes, “investing activities” are defined as making
and collecting loans and acquiring and disposing of debt or
equity instruments and property and equipment. “Financing activi-
ties” include obtaining resources from owners and providing them
with a return on their investments. All other activities are considered
“operating.“ Investments having original maturities of three months
or less when purchased are considered to be cash equivalents for
purposes of the financial statements.

Stock-Based Compensation
As permitted under SFAS No. 123, Accounting for Stock-Based
Compensation, Infinity accounts for stock options and other stock-
based compensation plans using the intrinsic value method
prescribed by Accounting Principles Board Opinion No. 25,
Accounting for Stock Issued to Employees. The fair value of shares
issued under Infinity’s Restricted Stock Plan is recorded as unearned
compensation and expensed over the vesting periods of the
awards. Under Infinity’s Stock Option Plan, options are granted to
officers, directors and key employees at exercise prices equal to
the fair value of the shares at the dates of grant. No compensation
expense is recognized for stock option grants. See Note 7 to the
Consolidated Financial Statements for more information on stock-
based compensation.

Recent Accounting Standards
In July 2001, the Financial Accounting Standards Board issued
SFAS No. 141, Business Combinations, and No. 142, Goodwill
and Other Intangible Assets. Under SFAS No. 141, business com-
binations initiated after June 30, 2001 are required to be
accounted for using the purchase method of accounting. Under
SFAS No. 142, goodwill is no longer amortized beginning
January 1, 2002, but is subject to an impairment test at least
annually. Infinity completed the transitional test for impairment in
2002 with no write-down required. Other operating and general
expenses for Infinity includes goodwill amortization of $2.2 million
in 2001. The carrying value of goodwill at December 31, 2002
was $70.3 million. The increase at December 31, 2003 reflects 
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Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements (continued)

the $5.0 million of goodwill for the assumption of the personal
lines agency business.

In December 2002, the Financial Accounting Standards Board
issued SFAS No. 148, Accounting for Stock-Based Compensation
—Transition and Disclosure. SFAS No. 148 provides alternative

methods of transition for a voluntary change to the fair-value
based method of accounting for stock-based employee compen-
sation. Infinity’s accounting methods for stock-based compensation
are fully described in Notes 1 and 7 to the Consolidated
Financial Statements.

NOTE 3—INVESTMENTS
Fixed maturities and equity securities consisted of the following (in millions):

December 31, 2003

Amortized Market Gross Unrealized

Cost Value Gains Losses

Fixed maturities:
United States Government and government agencies and authorities $ 99.8 $ 101.7 $ 2.4 $ (0.5)
States, municipalities and political subdivision 185.4 190.4 5.3 (0.2)
Foreign government 2.3 2.3 — —
Public utilities 114.8 120.8 6.2 (0.3)
Mortgage-backed securities 209.5 213.1 4.5 (1.0)
All other corporate 569.2 604.5 35.5 (0.3)
Redeemable preferred stocks 11.4 13.0 1.7 —

$1,192.4 $1,245.8 $ 55.6 $ (2.3)

Equity securities $ 19.2 $ 21.4 $ 2.2 $ —

December 31, 2002

Amortized Market Gross Unrealized

Cost Value Gains Losses

Fixed maturities:
United States Government and government agencies and authorities $ 84.1 $ 88.2 $ 4.1 $ —
States, municipalities and political subdivisions 56.0 59.7 3.8 (0.1)
Foreign government 2.3 2.5 0.2 —
Public utilities 111.8 112.8 3.7 (2.7)
Mortgage-backed securities 133.1 138.8 6.1 (0.4)
All other corporate 520.3 543.0 31.6 (8.9)
Redeemable preferred stocks 9.5 10.6 1.4 (0.3)

$ 917.1 $ 955.6 $ 50.9 $(12.4)

Equity securities $ 19.1 $ 17.6 $ 0.4 $ (1.9)

Maturities at market value on fixed income securities at December 31, 2003 are as follows:
Securities

Securities Securities With
With With No Unrealized All Fixed

Unrealized Unrealized Gains or Maturity
Maturity Gains Losses Losses Securities

One year or less $ 25.6 $ — $ — $ 25.6
After one year through five years 340.5 34.9 0.1 375.5
After five years through ten years 408.8 79.5 4.4 492.7
After ten years 98.5 11.0 1.0 110.5
Mortgage-backed securities 154.9 85.3 1.3 241.5

Total $1,028.3 $210.7 $6.8 $1,245.8



Changes in unrealized gains and losses for fixed maturities and equity securities are as follows:
Pretax

Fixed Equity Tax
Year ended December 31, 2003 Maturities Securities Effects Net

Unrealized holding gains (losses) on securities arising during the period $ 13.2 $ 4.0 $ (5.9) $ 11.3
Realized losses included in net income 1.2 (0.3) (0.3) 0.6

Change in unrealized gain (loss) on marketable securities, net $ 14.4 $ 3.7 $ (6.2) $ 11.9

Year ended December 31, 2002

Unrealized holding gains (losses) on securities arising during the period $33.9 $(8.2) $ (9.0) $16.7
Realized losses included in net income 1.5 5.2 (2.3) 4.4

Change in unrealized gain (loss) on marketable securities, net $35.4 $(3.0) $(11.3) $22.1

Year ended December 31, 2001

Unrealized holding gains (losses) on securities arising during the period $17.6 $(8.8) $ (3.1) $ 5.7
Realized losses included in net income (0.6) 6.5 (2.1) 3.8

Change in unrealized gain (loss) on marketable securities, net $17.0 $(2.3) $ (5.2) $ 9.5

The following chart summarizes Infinity’s security positions with unreal-
ized losses which were less than twelve months old and greater
than twelve months old as of December 31, 2003 (in thousands):

Less than twelve months

Number
of Amortized Market Unrealized

Securities Cost Value Loss

Fixed Maturities 52 $187,885 $185,752 $2,133
Equity securities 4 6,325 6,268 57

Total 56 $194,210 $192,020 $2,190

Greater than twelve months

Number
of Amortized Market Unrealized

Securities Cost Value Loss

Fixed Maturities 9 $12,320 $11,883 $437
Equity securities — — — —

Total 9 $12,320 $11,883 $437

Gross gains and losses on fixed maturity investment transactions
included in the Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows consisted
of the following (in millions):

2003 2002 2001

Gross Gains $ 6.9 $ 14.3 $ 14.8
Gross Losses (6.0) (15.8) (14.2)

Net Investment Income
The following table shows (in millions) investment income earned
and investment expenses (including interest charges on payables
to reinsurers) incurred by Infinity’s insurance companies.

Year ended December 31,

2003 2002 2001

Investment income:
Fixed maturities $64.7 $ 70.3 $79.5
Equity securities 1.0 1.1 1.3

Other 0.2 0.2 0.2

65.9 71.6 81.0
Investment expenses(a) (8.7) (10.3) (5.8)

Net Investment Income $57.2 $ 61.3 $75.2

(a) Investment expenses include interest of $6.3 million in 2003, $7.7 million in 2002
and $3.1 million in 2001 that was credited in connection with the Inter-Ocean
Reinsurance (Ireland) Limited reinsurance agreement.

NOTE 4—LONG-TERM DEBT

Infinity repaid the $55 million note due to AFG in July 2003 with
proceeds from a $200 million seven-year amortizing term loan.
The loan proceeds of $196.3 million (net of issued costs of $3.7
million) were also used to supplement the working capital of
Infinity’s insurance subsidiaries, to reduce Infinity’s reliance on rein-
surance and for general corporate purposes. The term loan (pre-
paid in full in February 2004) accrued interest at a variable rate
and at Infinity’s choice of LIBOR plus 2.5% or Prime plus 1.5%. To
hedge against future adverse movements in short-term interest
rates, Infinity entered into an interest-rate swap for $100 million of
the principal, in which the variable rate payments due for the first
three years of the term were exchanged for a fixed rate of 4.89%.
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The covenants of the loan had required Infinity to maintain certain
minimum interest and fixed charge coverage ratios, as well as
minimum levels of capital and surplus; the requirements of all loan
covenants were met as of December 31, 2003. The first two loan
principal repayment amounts of $2,250,000 were made on
September 30 and December 31, 2003. In compliance with the
loan agreement, Infinity made an additional principal payment of
$2.5 million, one half of the over-allotment proceeds from the
secondary public offering, in January 2004. The remainder was
to be repaid in quarterly installments. The following chart shows
the scheduled principal repayment amounts (in thousands).

Payment made January 8, 2004 $ 2,475
2004 8,886
2005 11,108
2006 15,551
2007 24,437
2008 37,766
2009 58,746
2010 36,531

$195,500

See Note 14, of the Consolidated Financial Statements, Sub-
sequent Events, for a discussion of the prepayment of this loan.

NOTE 5—EQUITY IN AFFILIATES

At December 31, 2000, Infinity owned 2 million shares (3%) of
Chiquita common stock. AFG and its subsidiaries owned an addi-
tional 22 million shares (33%) of Chiquita common stock at that
date. Chiquita is a leading international marketer, producer and
distributor of quality fresh fruits and vegetables and processed
foods. Chiquita reported net losses attributable to common shares
of $112 million in 2000.

In January 2001, Chiquita announced a restructuring initiative that
included discontinuing all interest and principal payments on its
public debt. Due to the expected restructuring, Infinity recorded a
fourth quarter 2000 pretax charge of $14.2 million to write down
its investment in Chiquita to quoted market value at December 31,
2000. In 2001, Infinity suspended accounting for the investment
under the equity method and reclassified the investment to “Equity
securities.” In the third quarter of 2001, Infinity wrote down its
investment in Chiquita by an additional $669,000. In March
2002, the court approved Chiquita’s plan of reorganization under

Chapter 11 of the U.S. Bankruptcy Code. Under the plan, over
$700 million in principal and accrued interest related to Chiquita’s
public debt was converted into common equity. As a result, Infinity
received approximately 14,400 “new” shares in the reorganized
company plus warrants expiring in 2009 to purchase an addi-
tional 240,000 shares at $19.23 per share. All of the common
shares were sold in 2002 and the warrants were sold in
September of 2003.

NOTE 6—INCOME TAXES

The following is a reconciliation of income taxes at the statutory
rate of 35% and income taxes as shown in the Consolidated
Statement of Operations (in thousands):

Year ended December 31,

2003 2002 2001

Earnings before income taxes $87,404 $70,933 $15,794

Income taxes at statutory rate $30,591 $24,827 $ 5,528
Effect of:

Amortization of goodwill — — 782
Dividends received deduction (368) (450) (385)
Tax-exempt interest (1,061) — —
Other 6 686 138

Provision (credit) for income taxes as
shown on the Consolidated 
Statement of Operations $29,168 $25,063 $ 6,063

The total income tax provision (credit) consists of (in thousands):

2003 2002 2001

Current $31,124 $34,070 $ 4,964
Deferred (1,956) (9,007) 1,099

Total provision $29,168 $25,063 $ 6,063

Certain members of the Infinity consolidated tax group were allo-
cated the following carryforwards from AFG which were available
as of December 31, 2003 (in millions):

Expiring Amount

Operating loss 2019 $ 1.2
Capital 2007 to 2008 27.2
Tax credit N/A 2.5



Deferred income tax assets and liabilities reflect temporary differ-
ences between the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities
recognized for financial reporting purposes and the amounts rec-
ognized for tax purposes. The significant components of deferred
tax assets and liabilities included in the Consolidated Balance
Sheets were as follows (in millions):

December 31,

2003 2002

Deferred tax assets:
Discount on loss reserve $ 19.9 $ 17.9
Unearned premium reserve 22.7 14.0
Investment securities — 0.2
Net operating loss carryforward 1.2 6.8
Net capital loss carryforward 27.2 —
Alternative minimum tax credit 2.5 —
Other, net 9.8 9.3

83.3 48.2
Valuation allowance for deferred tax assets (33.8) (17.8)

49.5 30.4
Deferred tax liabilities:

Deferred policy acquisition costs (17.8) (7.7)
Depreciation and amortization (3.0) (4.9)
Investment securities (15.4) —

(36.2) (12.6)

Net deferred tax assets $ 13.3 $ 17.8

The gross deferred tax asset has been reduced by a valuation
allowance based on an analysis of the likelihood of realization.
Factors considered in assessing the need for a valuation allowance
include: (i) opportunities to generate taxable income from sales of
appreciated assets, and (ii) the likelihood of generating larger
amounts of taxable income in the future. The likelihood of realizing
this asset will be reviewed periodically; any adjustments required
to the valuation allowance will be made in the period in which the
developments on which they are based become known.

Change in Deferred Tax Assets and Valuation Allowance
Operating loss carryforwards decreased by $5.6 million from
2002 to 2003 as a result of revised calculations performed by
AFG with respect to loss utilization while the Infinity companies
were included in the AFC tax group. Capital loss carryforwards
increased by $27.2 million from 2002 to 2003 primarily as a
result of $19.1 million of prior intercompany deferred losses rec-
ognized by the Infinity companies at the IPO date for which AFC
was not able to fully utilize in their tax group. The remaining
increase in capital loss carryforwards of $8.1 million was prima-
rily attributable to Infinity’s loss on the sale of warrants in 2003.
The alternative minimum tax (“AMT”) credit increased by $2.5 mil-
lion from 2002 to 2003 as a result of calculations performed by
AFG with respect to tax credit utilization while the Infinity companies
were included in a prior group. The valuation allowance increased

by $16.0 million from 2002 to 2003 primarily as a result of
increases in the deferred tax asset related to capital losses as
discussed above and management’s expectation of fully utilizing
those losses.

NOTE 7—EQUITY COMPENSATION PLANS

Infinity established the 2002 Stock Option Plan to enable it to
attract and motivate its employees and to encourage the identifi-
cation of their interests with those of Infinity’s shareholders. The plan
also provides for the grant of options to purchase shares by
Infinity’s non-employee directors. The plan provides for the grant of
“incentive stock options” that are qualified under the Internal
Revenue Code of 1986, as amended (the “Code”), and for the
grant of nonqualified stock options.

The maximum number of shares of Infinity’s Common Stock for
which options may be granted under the plan is 2,000,000 (sub-
ject to antidilution provisions). Infinity’s compensation committee
administers the plan. Each member of the committee is an “outside
director,” as such term is defined under Section 162(m) of the Code,
and a “Non-Employee Director” as defined in Rule 16b-3(b) prom-
ulgated under the Securities Exchange Act of 1934.

Subject to specific limitations contained in the plan, Infinity’s board
of directors has the ability to amend, suspend or terminate the plan
at any time without shareholder approval. Unless earlier termi-
nated, the plan may continue in effect until December 16, 2012.

Options generally expire ten years after the date of grant, though
the committee can provide for a shorter term for a particular grant.
Generally, subject to the discretion of the compensation committee,
20% of the shares underlying an option will become exercisable
upon the first anniversary of the date of grant, and 20% become
exercisable on each subsequent anniversary. Options issued to
non-employee directors are immediately exercisable. Exercise prices
for options granted under the plan may not be less than the fair
market value on the date of grant. The compensation committee
has broad discretion in determining the terms of the grant of awards
under the plan, subject to the restrictions outlined above. Upon a
change of control, as defined in the plan, all outstanding options
will immediately vest in full and become exercisable.

Payment for shares purchased upon exercise of an option must be
made in cash. The committee, however, may permit payment by
delivery of shares of Common Stock already owned by the
optionee having a fair market value equal to the cash option price
of the shares, by assigning the proceeds of a sale or loan with
respect to some or all of the shares being acquired (subject to
applicable law), by a combination of the foregoing or by any
other method.
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Persons who receive options incur no federal income tax liability
at the time of grant. Persons exercising nonqualified options rec-
ognize taxable income, and Infinity has a tax deduction at the
time of exercise to the extent of the difference between market
price on the day of exercise and the exercise price. Persons exer-
cising incentive stock options do not recognize taxable income
until they sell the underlying common stock. Sales within two years
of the date of grant or one year of the date of exercise result in
taxable income to the holder and a deduction for Infinity, both
measured by the difference between the market price at the time
of sale and the exercise price. Sales after such period are treated
as capital transactions to the holder, and Infinity receives no
deduction. The foregoing is only a summary of the federal income
tax rules applicable to options granted under the plan and is not
intended to be complete. In addition, this summary does not dis-
cuss the effect of the income or other tax laws of any state or
foreign country in which a participant may reside.

The following chart describes activity for Infinity’s Stock Option
Plan for the twelve month period ended December 31, 2003:

Weighted Average
Options Outstanding Number of Options Exercise Price

As of January 1, 2003 — —
Granted 425,180 $16.11
Exercised (2,500) $16.00
Cancelled (3,500) $16.00

As of December 31, 2003 419,180 $ 16.11

Remaining
Number of Options: Contractual

Exercise Price Outstanding Exercisable Life

$16.00 414,180 5,000 9.2 years
$25.56 5,000 5,000 9.7 years

419,180 10,000

The following table illustrates the effect on net earnings (in thou-
sands) and earnings per share had compensation cost related to
stock options been determined and recognized based on “fair
values” at grant dates consistent with the method prescribed by
SFAS No. 123. No information is applicable for the twelve month
period ended December 31, 2002 as no options had been
granted. For SFAS No. 123, purposes, the “fair value” of $5.98
per option granted in 2003 was calculated using the Black-Scholes
option-pricing model and the following assumptions: dividend
yield of 1.4%; expected volatility of 33%; risk-free interest rate of
4.0%; and expected option life of 7.5 years. There is no single
reliable method to determine the actual value of options at grant
date. Accordingly, the actual value of the option grants may be
higher or lower than the SFAS No. 123 “fair value.”

Twelve months ended December 31, 2003

Net earnings, as reported $58,236
Pro forma stock option expense (477)

Adjusted net earnings $57,759

Earnings per share (as reported):
Basic $2.86
Diluted $2.83

Earnings per share (adjusted):
Basic $2.84
Diluted $2.81

Equity compensation plans had the following effects on the
denominators of Infinity’s earnings per share calculations for the
twelve month period ended December 31, 2003, as follows 
(in thousands):

Basic Diluted

Average shares outstanding 20,347 20,347
Dilutive effect of equity compensation 1 247

Average shares used for earnings 
per share calculations 20,348 20,594

NOTE 8—BENEFIT PLANS

Infinity provides retirement benefits for virtually all eligible employ-
ees by matching contributions made on a discretionary basis to
participants’ accounts in the Infinity 401(k) Retirement Plan. Eligible
employees may contribute up to a maximum of the lesser of
$12,000 per year or 25% of the participant’s salary. The match-
ing percentage made by Infinity is 100% of participants’ contribu-
tions up to a ceiling of 3% of participants’ earnings.

Infinity also provides postretirement medical and life insurance
benefits to retirees. The benefit obligation was allocated to Infinity
from the former AFG plan in late 2002 in anticipation of the initial
public offering. Data related to this plan is shown in the following
tables (in thousands). This data does not reflect the impact of the
recently enacted Medicare Prescription Drug, Improvement, and
Modernization Act of 2003. Infinity does not expect this legislation
to have a material effect on its net benefit obligation or plan costs.

2003

Net benefit obligation at beginning of year $3,620
Service cost 251
Interest cost 255
Participant contributions 57
Plan amendments (444)
Actuarial (gain) loss 304
Gross benefits paid (224)

Net benefit obligation at end of year $3,819



Weighted average assumptions used to
determine benefit obligations 2003

Discount rate 6.00%
Health care cost trend on covered charges 10% decreasing

to 5% in 2009

1% increase

Effect on postretirement benefit obligation $ 54

Plan assets 2003

Fair value of plan assets at beginning of year $ —
Actual return on plan assets —
Employer contributions 167
Participant contributions 57
Acquisitions/divestitures —
Gross benefits paid $(224)

Fair value of plan assets at end of year $ —

Employer contributions 2003

Expected benefit payments
2004 $ 191
2005 233
2006 277
2007 312
2008 348
2009–2013 $ 2,160

Funded status 2003

Fair value of plan assets $ —
Benefit obligations 3,819
Funded status at end of year (3,819)
Contributions made after the measurement date 47
Unrecognized actuarial net (gain) loss 304
Unrecognized prior service cost (444)

Net amount recognized at end of year $(3,912)
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NOTE 9—QUARTERLY OPERATING RESULTS (UNAUDITED)

While insurance premiums are recognized on a relatively level basis, claim losses related to adverse weather (snow, hail, hurricanes, torna-
does, etc.) may be seasonal. Quarterly results necessarily rely heavily on estimates and are not necessarily indicative of results for longer
periods of time.

The following are quarterly results of consolidated operations of Infinity for the two years ended December 31, 2003 (in millions).

1st 2nd 3rd 4th Total
Quarter Quarter Quarter Quarter Year

2003

Revenues $ 181.0 $ 180.3 $ 190.0 $ 217.7 $ 769.0
Net earnings 11.5 12.3 15.0 19.4 58.2

Earnings per share:
Basic $ 0.57 $ 0.60 $ 0.73 $ 0.96 $ 2.86
Diluted $ 0.57 $ 0.60 $ 0.72 $ 0.94 $ 2.83

2002

Revenues $187.9 $170.8 $181.5 $164.3 $704.5
Net earnings 10.6 2.9 17.9 14.5 45.9

Realized gains (losses on securities amounted to (in millions):

1st 2nd 3rd 4th Total
Quarter Quarter Quarter Quarter Year

2003 $ 0.3 $ 0.2 $ 0.8 $ (0.3) $ 1.0
2002 (0.4) (11.4) 5.4 ( 0.3) (6.7)
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NOTE 10—INSURANCE RESERVES

The following table provides an analysis of changes in the liability
for losses and loss adjustment expenses, net of reinsurance (and
grossed up), over the past three years on a GAAP basis (in millions):

Year ended December 31,

2003 2002 2001

Balance at beginning of period $ 571 $ 608 $ 627
Addition of Assumed Agency Business 126

697
Provision for losses and LAE occurring 

in the current year 543 527 762
Net increase (decrease) in provision 

for claims of prior years(a) 14 1 (10)

Total losses and LAE incurred 557 528 752
Payments for losses and LAE of:

Current year (233) (252) (436)
Prior years (342) (313) (335)

Total payments (575) (565) (771)

Balance at end of period $ 679 $ 571 $ 608

Add back reinsurance recoverables 31 33 37

Gross unpaid losses and LAE included 
in the Balance Sheet $ 710 $ 604 $ 645

(a) Includes the assumption of the Agency Business

NOTE 11—REINSURANCE

Effective April 2001, Infinity’s insurance subsidiaries entered into a
reinsurance agreement with Inter-Ocean, under which Infinity
agreed to cede 90% of its automobile physical damage business
written through December 2002. This agreement was renewed for
2003 on terms substantially equivalent to those in effect in 2002.
Under the agreement, Infinity retained all of the ceded premiums
to fund ceded losses as they became due from Inter-Ocean.
Interest was credited to Inter-Ocean for funds held on their behalf.
Premiums ceded under this agreement were $170 million and
$296 million for the twelve month periods ended December 31,
2003 and 2002, respectively. In addition, premiums ceded for
the Assumed Agency Business were $22 million and $79 million
for the twelve month periods ended December 31, 2003 and
2002, respectively. Interest credited, which is reported as a
reduction of net investment income, was $6.3 million and $7.7
million for the same periods, respectively.

In addition, Infinity’s insurance subsidiaries assume a limited
amount of other business, primarily from affiliates of AFG. The fol-
lowing table shows (in millions) (i) written and earned premiums
included in income for reinsurance assumed, (ii) amounts deducted

from written and earned premiums in connection with reinsurance
ceded and (iii) reinsurance recoveries deducted from losses and
loss adjustment expenses.

Year ended December 31,

2003 2002 2001

Direct premiums written $ 846 $ 873 $ 908
Reinsurance assumed 159 42 55
Reinsurance ceded (187) (302) (225)

Net written premiums $ 818 $ 613 $ 738

Direct premiums earned $ 833 906 $ 986
Reinsurance assumed 123 46 60
Reinsurance ceded (257) (306) (130)

Net earned premiums $ 699 $ 646 $ 916

Reinsurance recoveries $ 123 $ 174 $ 93

NOTE 12—STATUTORY INFORMATION

Insurance companies are required to file financial statements with
state insurance regulatory authorities prepared on an accounting
basis prescribed or permitted by such authorities (statutory basis).
Net earnings (loss) and policyholders’ surplus on a statutory basis
were as follows (in millions):

Net Earnings (Loss) Policyholders’ Surplus

2003 2002 2001 2003 2002

$(23.5) $65.6 $56.9 $446.1 $325.4

For the twelve month period ended December 31, 2003, statutory
results differed from net earnings on a GAAP basis due to (i) a
realized loss from the writeoff of an investment in Penn Central U.K.
Limited and its insurance subsidiary of $55 million for statutory
purposes and (ii) amortization of deferred acquisition costs. For
GAAP purposes, the $55 million loss from the insurance subsidiary
had been recorded in the NSA Group prior to 2003 using the
equity method of accounting.

NOTE 13—ADDITIONAL INFORMATION

Agents’ balances and premiums receivable included in the bal-
ance sheet are shown net of allowances for uncollectible accounts.
The provision for such losses is included in other operating and
general expenses. A progression of the aggregate allowance fol-
lows (in millions):

2003 2002 2001

Beginning balance $ 8.9 $ 10.1 $ 10.4
Provision for losses 10.5 14.1 14.3
Uncollectible amounts written off (11.5) (15.3) (14.6)

Ending balance $ 7.9 $ 8.9 $ 10.1



Restrictions on Transfer of Funds and Assets of Subsidiaries
Payments of dividends, loans and advances by Infinity companies
are subject to various state laws, federal regulations and debt
covenants which limit the amount of dividends, loans and
advances that can be paid. Under applicable restrictions, the
maximum amount of dividends payable in 2004 from Infinity’s
insurance companies without seeking regulatory clearance is
approximately $46 million. Additional amounts of dividends,
loans and advances require regulatory approval.

Rent Expense
Total rental expense for various leases of office space and equip-
ment was $20.7 million, $15.2 million, and $12.9 million for the
twelve month periods ended December 31, 2003, 2002, and
2001, respectively.

Future minimum rentals, primarily related to office space, required
under operating leases having initial or remaining lease terms 
in excess of one year at December 31, 2003 were as fol-
lows: 2004–$19.4 million; 2005–$15.4 million; 2006–$12.3
million; 2007–$9.2 million; 2008–$8.5 million and $24.6 mil-
lion thereafter.

Future aggregate minimum sublease income was $4.0 million at
December 31, 2003.

Contingencies
Infinity is subject to litigation resulting principally from normal insur-
ance activities. Management believes that the outcome of such
matters will not have a material effect upon Infinity’s consolidated
financial position.

Related Party Transactions
Various business has been transacted between Infinity and AFG and
its subsidiaries over the past several years, including insurance,
computer processing and programming, payroll processing, office
rental and sales of assets. Aggregate charges for these items have
been insignificant in relation to revenues.

Infinity’s investment portfolio is managed by a subsidiary of AFG.
Net investment income includes investment management charges
of $2.0 million in 2003, $1.8 million in 2002 and $2.0 million
in 2001.

Infinity has purchased and sold securities at fair value in trans-
actions with AFG subsidiaries; it has also transferred securities to
its former parent in the form of capital distributions and received
securities from its former parent as capital contributions. Such
purchases, sales and transfers and related realized gains (losses)
were as follows (in millions):

Realized
Acquisitions Dispositions Losses

2003 $114.7(a) $ 4.7 $(0.6)
2002 — $102.7 (7.9)
2001 31.6 7.5 (0.1)

(a) Consists entirely of securities transferred from AFG to Infinity to support the net
reserves of the Assumed Agency Business.

NOTE 14—SUBSEQUENT EVENTS (UNAUDITED)

In December 2003, AFG sold its remaining holdings of Infinity
stock (7.85 million shares), of which Infinity received none of the
proceeds, through a secondary public offering. In conjunction
with this transaction, in January 2004 Infinity sold 170,829 newly
issued shares through an over-allotment option. Of the $4.9 million
net proceeds, approximately $2.5 million was paid on the term
loan as an additional principal payment. The remainder is to be
used for general corporate purposes.

In February 2004, Infinity issued $200 million principal amount of
Senior Notes due 2014. The notes bear interest at a fixed 5.5%
coupon rate which is payable semiannually. The proceeds of the
Senior Notes were used to retire the variable rate term loan which
was secured in July of 2003. Unamortized debt issuance costs
relating to the issuance of the variable rate term loan were written
off upon the retirement of this loan, resulting in a pretax charge of
$3.3 million in the first quarter of 2004. In addition, the interest-
rate swap, which Infinity held in conjunction with the term loan,
was settled and resulted in a pretax charge of $0.3 million in the
first quarter of 2004.
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Report of Independent Auditors

Board of Directors
Infinity Property and Casualty Corporation

We have audited the accompanying statement of assets (exclud-
ing investments) and liabilities to be transferred of the Personal
Lines Agency Business of Great American Insurance Company as
of December 31, 2002 and 2001, and the related statements of
underwriting gains and losses and underwriting cash flows for
each of the three years in the period ended December 31, 2002.
These statements are the responsibility of the Company’s manage-
ment. Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these state-
ments based on our audits.

We conducted our audits in accordance with auditing standards
generally accepted in the United States. Those standards require
that we plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assur-
ance about whether the statements are free of material misstate-
ment. An audit includes examining, on a test basis, evidence
supporting the amounts and disclosures in the statements. An audit
also includes assessing the accounting principles used and signifi-
cant estimates made by management, as well as evaluating the
overall presentation of the statements. We believe that our audits
provide a reasonable basis for our opinion.

The accompanying statements were prepared for the purpose of
complying with the rules and regulations of the Securities and
Exchange Commission for inclusion in the Form 10-K of Infinity 

Property and Casualty Corporation, and as described in Note 1,
are not intended to be a complete presentation of the Company’s
assets, liabilities, revenues, expenses and cash flows.

In our opinion, the accompanying statements of assets (excluding
investments) and liabilities to be transferred, underwriting gains
and losses and underwriting cash flows present fairly, in all mate-
rial respects, the assets (excluding investments) and liabilities to be
transferred of the Personal Lines Agency Business of Great
American Insurance Company at December 31, 2002 and 2001,
and its underwriting results and underwriting cash flows for each
of the three years in the period ended December 31, 2002, in
conformity with accounting principles generally accepted in the
United States. 

ERNST & YOUNG LLP

Cincinnati, Ohio
March 18, 2003



Infinity Property and Casualty Corporation and Subsidiaries

Personal Lines Agency Business of Great American Insurance Company 
Financial Statements (In thousands)

Infinity Property and Casualty Corporation and Subsidiaries

Personal Lines Agency Business of Great American Insurance Company 
Notes to Financial Statements

Statement of Assets (excluding Investments) 
and Liabilities to be Transferred

December 31,

2002 2001

Assets (excluding Investments) Transferred:
Agents’ balances $ 37,015 $ 44,632
Deferred policy acquisition costs 11,152 24,538
Goodwill 4,954 4,954
Other assets 414 4,684

$ 53,535 $ 78,808

Liabilities Transferred:
Unpaid losses and loss 

adjustment expenses $125,623 $ 115,885
Unearned premiums 47,978 80,941
Other liabilities 5,199 3,680

$178,800 $ 200,506

Statement of Underwriting Gains and Losses
Year ended December 31,

2002 2001

Earned premiums $107,224 $ 149,925
Losses and Expenses:

Losses and loss adjustment expenses 91,064 121,811
Commissions and other 

underwriting expenses 26,189 42,819

Underwriting loss $ (10,029) $ (14,705)

Statement of Underwriting Cash Flows
Year ended December 31,

2002 2001

Premiums collected $ 81,878 $ 154,113
Losses and loss adjustment expenses paid (81,326) (111,806)
Commissions and other underwriting 

expenses paid (10,346) (46,092)

Cash used by underwriting $( 9,794) $ (3,785)
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Background and Basis of Presentation
Great American Insurance Company (“GAI”) is an indirect wholly-
owned subsidiary of American Financial Group, Inc. Through a
reinsurance agreement effective January 1, 2003, GAI transferred
its personal lines business written through independent agents (the
“Assumed Agency Business”) to Infinity Property and Casualty
Corporation (“Infinity”). Under the reinsurance agreement, GAI also
transferred to Infinity assets (primarily investment securities) with a
market value of approximately $125.3 million.

The accompanying statements have been prepared from the his-
torical accounting records of GAI and present the assets (excluding
investments) and liabilities to be transferred, the related underwriting
gains and losses and underwriting cash flows attributable to the
Assumed Agency Business. The Assumed Agency Business repre-
sents a portion of AFG’s Personal Lines segment of operations and
is not a separate legal entity. Accordingly, this business does not
have a separate investment portfolio or equity structure. For these
reasons, the financial records necessary for complete financial
statements including investments, investment results, and tax provi-
sions do not exist.

The preparation of the financial statements in conformity with gen-
erally accepted accounting principles requires management to
make estimates and assumptions that affect the amounts reported
in the financial statements and accompanying notes. Changes in
circumstances could cause actual results to differ materially from
those estimates.

Accounting Policies

Deferred Policy Acquisition Costs (“DPAC”)
Policy acquisition costs (principally commissions, premium taxes
and other marketing and underwriting expenses) related to the
production of new business are deferred and charged against
income ratably over the terms of the related policies. The method
followed in computing DPAC limits the amount of such costs to
their estimated realizable value without any consideration for
anticipated investment income.

Unpaid Losses and Loss Adjustment Expenses
The net liabilities stated for unpaid claims and for expenses of
investigation and adjustment of unpaid claims are based upon 
(a) the accumulation of case estimates for losses reported prior 
to the close of the accounting period on direct business written; 
(b) estimates received from ceding reinsurers and insurance pools
and associations; (c) estimates of unreported losses based on past
experience; (d) estimates based on experience of expenses for
investigating and adjusting claims and (e) the current state of the
law and coverage litigation. These liabilities are subject to the
impact of changes in claim amounts and frequency and other fac-
tors. Changes in estimates of the liabilities for losses and loss
adjustment expenses are reflected in the Statement of Underwriting
Gains and Losses in the period in which determined. In spite of
the variability inherent in such estimates, management believes
that the liabilities for unpaid losses and loss adjustment expenses
are adequate.
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Premium Recognition
Premiums are earned over the terms of the policies on a pro rata
basis. Unearned premiums represent that portion of premiums written
which is applicable to the unexpired terms of policies in force.

Reinsurance
Effective January 1, 2002, GAI entered into a reinsurance agree-
ment with Inter-Ocean Reinsurance (Ireland) Limited, under which
GAI agreed to cede 90% of its automobile physical damage busi-
ness written through December 2002. This agreement has been
renewed for 2003 on terms substantially equivalent to those in effect
in 2002. Premiums ceded under this agreement were $78.5 mil-
lion in 2002.

Quarterly Operating Results (Unaudited)
While insurance premiums are recognized on a relatively level
basis, claim losses related to adverse weather (snow, hail, hurri-
canes, tornadoes, etc.) may be seasonal. Quarterly results neces-
sarily rely heavily on estimates and are not necessarily indicative
of results for longer periods of time.

The following are quarterly results of operations of the Assumed
Agency Business for the two years ended December 31, 2002 
(in millions).

1st 2nd 3rd 4th Total
Quarter Quarter Quarter Quarter Year

2002

Earned premiums $39.5 $41.4 $ 3.8 $22.5 $107.2
Underwriting loss (2.7) (1.5) (4.2) (1.6) (10.0)

2001

Earned premiums $35.2 $37.4 $39.0 $38.3 $149.9
Underwriting loss (1.2) (1.4) (4.7) (7.4) (14.7)

Insurance Reserves
The following table provides an analysis of changes in the liability
for losses and loss adjustment expenses over the past three years
on a GAAP basis (in millions):

Year Ended December 31,

2002 2001

Balance at beginning of period $116 $ 106
Provision for losses and LAE occurring 

in the current year 84 118
Net increase in provision for claims 

of prior years 7 4

Total losses and LAE incurred 91 122
Payment for losses and LAE of current year (31) (62)
Payment for losses and LAE of prior years (50) (50)

Total payments (81) (112)

Balance at end of period $126 $ 116
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